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Chairman’s Statement

EFRHES

To Our Fellow Shareholders

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), | hereby
present the annual results of China Solar Energy Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2012.

OPERATING RESULTS

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group recorded a
turnover of HK$315,686,000 (2011: HK$174,418,000). The loss
from continuing operations attributable to owners of the
Company was HK$247,443,000 (2011: HK$190,690,000).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2012.

OUTLOOK

As a result of the rapid growth during the past five years, the
photovoltaic (PV) industry of the PRC has made great strides in
terms of product technology, production capacity and
marketing strategy and the PRC has been gaining leading
edge in the world. With the strong support by the PRC
government, we believe that the PRC is set to become a top
player in the world in terms of PV application in the coming
decade.

The Group has achieved certain attainments in terms of
technology, equipment, production and application in thin-film
PV (a-Si and micro-Si) products in the world’s PV industry, and
substantial achievement has been made especially in major
a-Si power stations and solar power application, a PV
application area that is going to enjoy tremendous support from
the PRC in the future.

With extensive understanding to market demands and the
application of our thin-film PV products, we developed and
manufactured an amorphous silicon power generation demo,
and after three years of testing, interim testing and limited
application in Dali, Yunnan, a-Si thin-film demo of the Group
proved to be applicable to agricultural greenhouses. It has
been widely known that agriculture has to go indoor before it
could become a modern, industrialised and technology-based
industry, and we are among the first to realise such a goal to
apply thin-film PV as an important new energy in agricultural
development.

AABREREFE((EF2 ) 2BTERGIER
RERBERAB(ARR]) REKERR (GHE A
SEDBE_T-——_F=ZA=+—-RIVERFEZ
BEERE -

LS

HE-Z——#=fA=+—HItEE A~EEKE
28 315 686,000 7 7T ( ZF——4F : 174,418,000
BIL) c ARAIRREERERBBELEEBEEA
247,443,000 70(=F ——F : 190,690,000/87T) °

EXSTREBLERE_Z——F=A=+—HIF
FREZARHLE -

AIRBE

KRREXEORFNFDERS  PEACRITE
FEMBAM - £EESD > MBITHEREG T RENE
£ UHE T RN - BEERRNTFF - Eh
BB RN - ANBEBRANZHT - hE
R RO E R KE -

AREBMAERREZTHSERIAK GRS - R) Em
ferehl - =M £E  EREEREERE —ErE
AR EFEMBEARRIE R - ARRENRE (URER
FANXFHOARERER) BATERE TEAK
g

AEBERDBEEMISHER  BEAABERLRK
Emitse  MBEITELVERRERACKEES),
EEFAELB=FaR P8l MEREA X
DEETAREFREEREAERZEAM LN
A BAEMREERRE - EXEL - BR(mER
RIFBFERELER  RAIXEERTE—H &5
EREECAERENERTADERET ENED -

4 CHINA SOLAR ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED A EIR#ZXEREREZERBRAE



Chairman’s Statement
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In the coming three years, leveraging its advantage stemming
from industrial integration as well as the determination and
support of the PRC to develop modern agriculture, the Group
will seek to participate in agricultural a-Si PV facility
development in Yunnan, Jiangsu and Shanghai and aim to
build a 10 MW agricultural greenhouse and 1,000 hectares of
ecology breeding base.

At the beginning of the new financial year, the Group has set
new goals in the development of new energy, modern
agriculture and food safety. With the great support of our
Shareholders and under the leadership of our management, we
look forward to contribute to the interest of the Shareholders
and the Company as a whole and set a role model for public
health with a brand new image.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the newly elected Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my heartfelt appreciation to our
shareholders and business partners for their continued support
and confidence in our Group. | would also like to thank the
management team and all staff members for their devoted
service and loyalty. In addition, | would like to thank all directors
including retired directors for their valuable input and significant
contribution.

Yeung Ngo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2012
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBIWE S

BUSINESS REVIEW
Prospect

With the determination of photovoltaic electricity pricing by the
National Development and Reform Commission, it symbolises
the State’s recognition for the development of the photovoltaic
industry.

With the advancement of the technology, the decline in price of
raw materials, the expansion of production capacity and the
improvement in efficiency of the photovoltaic industry, it is
believed that the costs for photovoltaic power generation will
be getting closer to that of other conventional energies.
Photovoltaic power generation looks certain to evolve from an
ancillary energy resource at present towards an alternative
energy resource.

The 2 MW customer-side a-Si solar grid-connected power
generation (photovoltaic building BIPV) project under the
“National Gold Sun Project” (B X € KX B% I #2) in Yunnan
Province, which was completely acquired by the Group from X
RS ERLR AR A A in April 2011, will be connected to the
national grid at the end of September this year. In addition,
another major 6 MW a-Si solar grid-connected power
generation project, namely Dagongshan, will also be connected
to the national grid for power generation in December 2012.
After commencement of production for both projects, they will
become the Group’s demonstration projects for the two main
power generation directions in a-Si solar energy, as well as
bring revenue and benefits to the Group to a certain extent.
The delay of the connection to the national grid of the two
projects is due to the relevant procedures have not yet
completed.

The Group completed all testing works for the organic
integration with the agricultural industry based on the features
of a-Si solar photovoltaic power generation, in order to lay a
foundation in realising the joint development of a-Si
photovoltaic power generation and modern ecological
agriculture. The a-Si solar agricultural ecological facilities
projects in Yunnan and Jiangsu Provinces will certainly
contribute to the Group’s business development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Results

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group recorded a total
turnover of HK$315,686,000 (2011: HK$174,418,000) from
continuing operations and the loss attributable to the owners
from continuing operations of HK$247,443,000 (2011:
HK$190,690,000). The loss attributable to the owners of the
Company from continuing operations was mainly due to
impairment loss in respect of goodwill, intangible assets and
available-for-sale investments amounting to HK$145,325,000,
HK$49,400,000 and HK$15,038,000 respectively for the year
ended 31 March 2012 whereas the loss attributable to the
owners of the Company from continuing operations was mainly
caused by the valuation of the share options of
HK$149,605,000 granted for during the year ended 31 March
2011. If such impairments and the value of the share options
were taken out, the loss from continuing operations was, in fact,
decreased by HK$3,405,000 over the last year.

The basic loss per share from continuing operations was
HK2.18 cents (2011: HK2.64 cents) for the year ended 31
March 2012 and the diluted loss per share was not applicable
for both years.

Liquidity, Finance Resources and Funding

At 31 March 2012, the Group had net current assets of
HK$260,931,000 (2011: HK$339,624,000) and cash and cash
equivalents amounting to HK$10,687,000 (2011:
HK$93,224,000). The decrease was mainly due to the
payments to the subcontractors of the production lines.

The liquidity ratio of the Group, represented by a ratio between
current assets over current liabilities, was 2,716.6% (2011:
2,190.5%) and it reflects adequacy of financial resources.

The indebtedness of the Group as at 31 March 2012 was
HK$139,490,000 (2011: HK$nil) representing convertible notes
with carrying amount of HK$23,577,000 issued as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of the entire interest in Stream
Fund High-Tech Group Corp. Ltd. (“Stream Fund High-Tech”)
and the subsidies from the governments of Changzhou and
Dali amounting to HK$115,913,000.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group was exposed to a very limited level of exchange risk
as the Group is mainly dealing with Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi.

Annual Report 2012 ik

B % B B

HE-_ZT——4=ZA=+—HLLFE XTEBEESE
KB RE A 5484 %50 315,686,000 /8 T (= F
——%F 1 174,418,000 7T) - RERELHREFEL
TS 18 B247,4430008 T( - F — — 4
190,690,000/87L) - BE—T——F=A=+—H
LHFE ARARRELHRABECEELER
FTERERE BREERTHEERERERE
% %8 5 Bl £145,325,00078 7T * 49,400,000 7T M
15,038,000 L MBE=-_E——F=A=+—H
IEFE  AREIRREEREFESE XK EEA
TERERHHEES 149,605,000 7T 2 BEALHE ©
Tt hZERERBREZEEB BIREBELSE
¥ BIEER F AT R4 3,405,00087T ©

HEZZ-——F=A=+—HIFE XEHEL
BEBZEBRERBFRR218BUM(ZE——F:
2.648() - MEL#EEERATVERRZMEFE -

RBES  HBEERRES
RZE——F=ZA=+—8 AEELRDEETFE
/260,931,000 T ( = F — — 4 : 339,624,000/%8
L) MRe MEEEEYA10,687,0008L(ZF
——%F 193,224,000/ 7T) - WA RBREZEHNRAEE
AR KA

AEBENRSBEERURBDABRFEZRBES L
EE2716.6% (ZF——F :2,190.5%) * MBI 7%
BIRFE o

RZE—ZF=ZA=+—H FrEBEZE%A
139,490,000 L (—F——F : T8 L) L
EMIEAKBRESNESEERAA(NRE SR
)2 E = R E M E1TEREE & 23,577,000
B2 A BMBREE  UERKREEMNRREBRNZH
8 115,913,000 7T °

SN LR
HRAREIBUABTRARERS  HAKEE
HZERRBRIEEAR o



Management Discussion and Analysis

THBIWE S

Share Capital Structure

As at 1 April 2011, the Company has 1,129,600,000 listed
warrants (the “Warrants”) at the issue price of HK$0.023
outstanding, each conferring the right to subscribe for one new
share at the initial exercise price of HK$0.14 up to an
aggregate amount of HK$158,144,000 at any time during the
period from 10 February 2010 to 9 February 2012. During the
year, none of the Warrants had been exercised. All existing
warrants of the Company in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the instrument dated 8 February 2010 constituting
the warrants expired as at 9 February 2012.

On 15 April 2011 and 15 August 2011, the Company issued
2,490,000,000 shares and 1,716,738,196 shares of the
Company respectively as the consideration shares upon the
completion of the acquisition of the entire interest in Stream
Fund High-Tech and Solar Market Limited (“Solar Market”).

On 4 January 2011, the Company entered into the subscription
agreements with the subscribers, pursuant to which the
subscribers conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the
Company conditionally agreed to issue an aggregate of
1,420,000,000 subscription shares at a price of HK$0.114 per
subscription share. On 4 March 2011, completion of the
subscription for 720,000,000 new shares took place and the
long stop date for the subscription for the remaining
700,000,000 shares was extended to 27 August 2012.

During the year, no share options were exercised whereas
115,782,000 share options were cancelled or lapsed.

Apart from the above, there was no change in the share capital
structure of the Company during the year.

Material Acquisition of Subsidiaries and Disposal of
Associates

On 7 February 2011 and 4 March 2011, the Group entered into
a sales and purchase agreement and a supplemental sales
and purchase agreement respectively with Mr. Yeung Ngo (“Mr.
Yeung”), Profit High Group Limited and Time Across Limited for
the acquisition of the entire interest in Stream Fund High-Tech
at an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$364,442,000. The consideration was satisfied as to
HK$40,742,000 by way of the issue of the convertible notes
and as to HK$323,700,000 by way of allotment and issue of the
consideration shares at the issue price of HK$0.13. The
acquisition of Stream Fund High-Tech was completed on 15
April 2011. Mr. Yeung became the Chairman of the Group on
28 March 2011.
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On 8 July 2011 and 12 July 2011, the Group entered into a
sales and purchase agreement and a supplemental sales and
purchase agreement respectively with Zheng Zhi Hong and
Power Metro Investments Limited for the acquisition of the
entire interest in Solar Market at an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$154,506,000. The consideration was
satisfied by way of allotment and issue of the consideration
shares at the issue price of HK$0.09. The acquisition was
completed on 15 August 2011.

On 28 July 2011, the Group disposed of its associates namely
Taiwan CS Energy Corporation (“Taiwan CS”) with its subsidiary
to an independent third party at no consideration as Taiwan CS
was inactive and incurred substantial accumulated losses in
the past years.

On 4 January 2012, /T & R 15 £ 2 B ¥ B R A 7] was set up
with the aim of developing a-Si solar agricultural ecological
facilities business.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group has no significant contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2012 and 2011.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had capital commitment in
respect of the purchase of property, plant and equipment,
construction in progress and capital not yet injected into certain
PRC subsidiaries amounting to HK$1,230,000, HK$75,876,000
and HK$412,845,000 respectively whereas as at 31 March
2011, the Group had no material capital commitments.

Charges on Group’s Assets

As at 31 March 2012 and 2011, there was no charge on the
Group’s assets.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had 55 (2011: 20) full time
employees including 5 (2011: 5) executive directors.

The Group remunerated its employees mainly based on the
individual’'s performance and experience. Apart from the basic
remuneration, discretionary bonus and share option may be
granted to eligible employees by reference to the Group’s
performance as well as individual’s performance.
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THBIWE S

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of the
Company.

CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

The Company had complied with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
March 2012 except for the following deviations:

Code Provision A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. The
current independent non-executive directors of the Company
are not appointed for a specific term. However, all directors
(including executive and non-executive) of the Company are
subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting
as specified in the Bye-laws of the Company.

Code Provision E.1.2

Under the code provision E.1.2 the chairman of the board
should attend the annual general meeting. The Chairman of the
Board, Mr Yeung was unable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 1 August 2012 due to
personal reasons. However, an Executive Director, present at
the annual general meeting who then took the chair of that
meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company had adopted the Model Code set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the directors. All Directors
have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company,
that they had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2012.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company consists of Mr Yin Tat
Man, Mr Choi Shek Chau, Mr Choy Tak Ho and Mr Fan Chuan,
the four independent non-executive Directors. The primary
duties of the audit committee are to review the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, and the
financial reporting process and internal control system of the
Group, including the review of and the approval of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2012.
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The audited consolidated financial statements have been
approved by the audit committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established on
30 April 2012, with specific terms of reference in compliance
with the Code of Corporate Governance Practices as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Committee is responsible
for making recommendations to the board for leading the
process for board appointments and for identifying and
nominating for the approval of the board candidates for
appointment to the board.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREEBEHEARREE

CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. YEUNG Ngo (“Mr. Yeung”), aged 61, joined the Group as
the Chairman and an executive director on 28 March 2011. He
was also appointed as the Chairman of the nomination
committee and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company on 30 April 2012. Mr. Yeung graduated from the
Department of World Economics of the Graduate School of the
Renmin University of China and has over 30 years of
experience in corporate management, product development,
financial management and marketing. He is the chairman of
Stream New Energy Cars Holdings Limited. He has always
been dedicated to the development of new energy and green
products, and has knowledge in the technology and the
industrial design of production lines of amorphous silicon thin
film solar products as well as the development of electric
vehicles, fuel cell vehicles and hydrogen vehicles. Mr. Yeung is
one of the drafters of Chinese National Standard for Automobile
Air Conditioning Refrigerant Compressor (GB/T21360-2008)
and the patent owners of green air-conditioning scroll
compressors. Stream New Energy Cars Holdings Limited is
among the first which uses green refrigerant in automotive air-
conditioning systems in China.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Pierre SELIGMAN (“Mr. Seligman”), aged 46, joined the
Group as an executive director on 7 February 2005 and was
appointed as Managing Director in 2006. He holds a Bachelor
degree in French Literature and a textile degree in knitwear
from the University of Leeds in the United Kingdom. He has
more than 15 years of experience in local and overseas trading
business working as a senior executive. Mr. Seligman is
currently an executive director of ViaGOLD Capital Limited, a
company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.

Mr. YANG Yuchun (“Mr. Yang”), aged 34, joined the Group as
executive director on 28 March 2011. Mr. Yang graduated from
the Department of International Finance of the Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics and has over 10 years of
experience in financial management, cost accounting and
corporate management. In the recent years, he has devoted
his career to photovoltaic development and he is the general
manager of HMIRIGKX BEERER R and KIBRB K EELIR
BRAAE].

Mr. Yang is the son of Mr. Yeung.
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EFREEBEEAREE

Ms. JIN Yan (“Ms. Jin”), aged 41, joined the Group as an
executive director on 28 March 2011. Ms. Jin graduated from
the Department of Accounting of the Soochow University,
majored in economic management, and has over 15 years of
experience in corporate management and finance accounting.
She was the chief financial officer of Stream Fund High-Tech
Group Corp. Ltd. and has been the general manager of ;T & f
R B A R A A) and Jiangsu Zhunxin Auto Air-Condition
System Co., Ltd. and has extensive cooperation with various
well-known multinational corporations such as General Electric,
Dow Corning, ITOCHU Corporation and Toshiba in the area of
silicone. Jiangsu Zhunxin Auto Air-Conditions System Co., Ltd.
is the first company in the Chinese automotive air-conditioning
industry to “go green”.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. ON Kien Quoc (“Mr. On”), aged 51, joined the Group as an
executive director of the Company on 10 September 2007 and
was redesignated as non-executive director on 12 October
2011. Mr. On is a Certified Commercial Investment Member of
the CCIM Institute in the United States of America. Mr. On has
extensive experience in the field of corporate strategy,
marketing solutions and business development and he is the
business development manager of Evergreen Equity
Investment, LLC, an investment consultancy company based in
the United States of America.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YIN Tat Man (“Mr. Yin”), aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director, a member of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company on
30 September 2004. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree
from the University of Toronto in Canada. He is a professional
business executive with over 20 years of experience in the
information technology industry specializing in the field of
project management, risk management and channel
management. Currently, Mr. Yin is an IT director of an
international IT and system technology company based in
Shanghai.
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EFREEBEHEARREE

Mr. CHOI Shek Chau (“Mr. Choi”), aged 55, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director, a member of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company on
23 December 2008. He was also appointed as a member of the
nomination committee of the Company on 30 April 2012. Mr.
Choi was the founder of Fang Zheng TV Production Company
Limited (Liaoning Province) (“Fang Zheng TV”) (BZ4 HIEE
B/ A & 1A R A Al and Bo Hai Group Company Limited
(Liaoning province) (“Bo Hai Group”) (EEA N EEE AR A
7). Mr. Choi studied Chinese literature and history from the
University of Macau. Mr. Choi has extensive experience in
China Trade. In 1990, Mr. Choi established the Fang Zheng TV,
and developed successful business via setting up a joint
venture with the local TV production house in producing various
arts programs. In 1993, his Hong Kong based company and
the Liaoning province established the Bo Hai Group to perform
the real estate investment and development projects. Mr. Choi
has earned over 15 years of solid business experience from
such investment in real estate in China. Mr. Choi is a former
independent non-executive director of Opes Asia Development
Limited, a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

Mr. CHOY Tak Ho (“Mr. Choy”), aged 83, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director, audit committee and
remuneration committee of the Company on 28 March 2011.
Mr. Choy is a member of the 9th National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultation Conference, the
Executive Committee Member of the 8th All China Federation of
Industry and Commerce and the Honorary Chairman of the
Chinese Manufacture Association of Hong Kong. He also
served as a member of the Selection Committee of the First
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
He is the Honorary Life Chairman of the Chinese General
Chamber of Commerce H.K., the Charter President of Hong
Kong and Overseas Chinese Association of Commerce Limited
and the Charter President of Hong Kong Kwun Tong Industries
and Commerce Association Limited. Mr. Choy holds the
position as an independent non-executive director of EVA
Precision Industrial Holdings Limited and Sino Golf Holdings
Limited, of which shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He was also ex-independent non-executive
directors of Multifield International Holdings Limited and
Oriental Explorer Holdings Limited, of which shares are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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EFREEBEEAREE

Mr. FAN Chuan (“Mr. Fan”), aged 36, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director, a member of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company on
6 January 2012. He was also appointed as a member of the
nomination committee of the Company on 30 April 2012. Mr.
Fan received a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics and a
Master degree in Accounting from the Wuhan University; a
Master degree in Finance from the University of Manchester
and a Doctorate in Economics from the Renmin University of
China. Mr. Fan is a member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and an associated member of The
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Fan has
over 12 years of experience in audit, accounting and finance.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. LEE Kit Tuen, (“Ms. Lee”), prior to joining the Company in
November 2011 as the Chief Financial Officer, had been
worked with international auditing firms for more than 10 years
and held management positions in several investment holding
companies and a listed company in Hong Kong. Ms. Lee was
appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company on 6
January 2012. She is responsible for the accounting, finance
and company secretarial functions. Ms. Lee has many years of
working experience in auditing, accounting, financial
management and corporate finance. She holds a Bachelor of
Arts degree in Accountancy and is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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CORPORATE MANAGEMENT
Chairman and Managing Director

The roles of the Chairman and the Managing Director are
segregated and assumed by two separate individuals
who have no relationship with each other to strike a
balance of power and authority so that the job
responsibilities are not concentrated on any one
individual.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for taking lead
of effective running of the Board.

The Managing Director is delegated with the authorities to
manage the Group’s business in all aspects effectively,
implement major strategies, make day-to-day decision
and coordinate overall business operation.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is responsible for the management of the
business and affairs of the Group with the objective of
enhancing shareholder value and prospects in the annual
and interim reports, and of other price-sensitive
announcements and other financial disclosures as
required under the Listing Rules, and reports to regulators
any information required to be disclosed pursuant to
statutory requirements.

Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations
of the Group under the leadership of the Managing
Director. The Managing Director, working with the other
executive directors and the executive management team
of each business division, is responsible for managing
the business of the Group, including implementation of
strategies adopted by the Board and assuming full
accountability to the Board for operations of the Group.
All executive directors have made full and active
contribution to the affairs of the Board and the Board
always acts in the best interests of the Group.
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REGULAR BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets at least four times each year and has a
formal schedule of matters referred to it for consideration
and decision. Additional meetings may be convened as
and when necessary. Notice of at least fourteen days is
served for regular Board meetings and reasonable notice
is given for all other Board meetings. Directors are
consulted and provided with an opportunity to include
matters into the agenda for discussion at the Board
meetings. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman/
Managing Director in preparing the agenda for each
Board meeting and to ensure that applicable rules and
regulations regarding the meetings are observed. The
final agenda together with the Board papers are
distributed to the Directors at least three days before the
Board meetings.

During the year, twenty-one board meetings, one
remuneration committee meeting and two audit committee
meetings were held during the year ended 31 March
2012.

Individual attendance of each of the directors is set out
as below:

Directors

Executive directors HITEE

Mr. Yeung Ngo MEpsTE

Mr. Yang Yuchun MRELEE

Ms. Jin Yan SR

Mr. Pierre Seligman Pierre Seligman %t 4

Mr. Chan Wai Kwong Peter RAREE

Mr. On Kien Quoc On Kien Quoc &4

Non-executive director IHTEE

Mr. Yin Tat Man REXEE

Mr. Tam Kam Biu William EREEE

Mr. Choi Shek Chau (“Mr. Choi”) #2851 5 4 ([ 82564 )
(Note) (K1st)

Mr. Choy Tak Ho BiEN A

Mr. Chong Chi Wah HEELEE

Mr. Fan Chuan B 5

Note: Mr. Choi has not attended all meetings during the year for the
reason of sickness.
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4. BOARD COMMITTEES

Each Committee has its own defined scope of duties and
terms of reference. The Company Secretary shall make
available the terms of reference of the committees to any
shareholder upon receipt of a request in writing from the
shareholder. The members of a committee are
empowered to make decisions on matters within the
terms of reference of such committee. Copies of all
signed minutes of the committees are sent to Directors for
their record.

a. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises four
members, all of whom are independent non-
executive directors, namely, Mr. Yin Tat Man, Mr.
Choi Shek Chau, Mr. Choy Tak Ho and Mr. Fan
Chuan.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include
review of the effectiveness of financial reporting
processes and internal control systems of the
Group, review of the Group’s financial information
and compliance, marking recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and removal of external
auditors and assessing their independence and
performance.

During the year, the works performed by Audit
Committee were mainly set out below:

— reviewed and approved the interim results for
the period ended 30 September 2011 and
annual results for the year ended 31 March
2012 of the Group.

— discussed with the management of the
Company over the fairness and adequate
accounting standards and policies of the
Group in the preparation of the interim and
annual financial statements.

— reviewed and approved the connected
transactions entered into by the Group during
the year.

— reviewed and discussed with the external
auditors over the financial reporting of the
Company.
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— reviewed, recommended and approved the
retirement and re-appointment of external
auditors.

— reviewed, recommended and approved the
remuneration of external auditors.

b. Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises
five members, one executive director, namely, Mr.
Yeung Ngo and four independent non-executive
directors, namely, Mr. Yin Tat Man, Mr. Choi Shek
Chau, Mr. Choy Tak Ho and Mr. Fan Chuan.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to make recommendations to the Board on the
Group’s policy and structure for the overall
remuneration of directors and management,
including the policy of granting of share options to
employees under the Company’s share option
scheme.

c. Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee.
The appointment of a new director is a collective
decision of the Board, taking into consideration the
expertise, experience, integrity and commitment of
that appointee to the relevant principal division, the
Company and the Group.

Every newly appointed Director will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction of the
first occasion of his appointment

5. DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
ACKNOWLEDGMENT
Messrs HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng, the auditors of the
Company, acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in
the auditors’ report on the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2012.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The fees paid/payable to the Group’s external auditors for
services, including the audit service, for the year ended
31 March 2012 was total to HK$1,300,000 (2011:
HK$2,000,000).

The accounts for the year were audited by Messrs. HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng whose term of office will expire
upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. In March
2012, the practice of Messrs. HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
was reorganised as HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited.
The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be nominated for
appointment as the auditors of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in
Appendix 10 of The Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors (the
“Model Code”). All Directors have confirmed, following a
specific enquiry by the Company, that they have fully
complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code during the year.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s
internal control systems and through the Audit Committee,
conducts reviews on the effectiveness of these systems
at least annually, covering all material controls, financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. The process used in reviewing
the effectiveness of these internal control systems
includes discussion with management on risk areas
identified by management. The purpose of the
Company’s internal control is to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in
operational systems so that the Company’s objectives
can be achieved.
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9. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS 9. HRRZEE

The Company endeavours to maintain a high level of RARHNEARREFRBERE ZER IR
transparency in communicating with shareholders. A 8] 2 483k [www.chinasolar-energy.com ] ;A
Extensive information of the Group’s activities, business REAEASEETED EHRBERERZFA
strategies and developments is provided, in additions to B UARARF 2 FREFEARE - AAA
the Company’s annual reports and interim reports, in our FEAARAIRREEARARBZRRBAFRE
website “www.chinasolar-energy.com”. Shareholders of AT LHEEEETYHEEIRNE B
the Company are encouraged to attend the annual B -BERIRAEREZEGIRE  INWE
general meeting of the Company which offers a valuable BHREZBAT  HBZES2EMKAETR
forum for dialogue and interaction with management. The REBFAE FEERFEEAEEEL 2R
Chairman of the Board and the chairman of the Audit A e

Committee, or in their absence, another member of the
relevant committee, are available at the annual general
meeting to answer questions from shareholders on the
business of the Group.

Annual Report 2012 ik 21



Directors’ Report

EFERE

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) submit herewith
their annual report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries
are set out in note 45 to the financial statements.

The analyzes of the principal activities and geographical
locations of the operations of the Group during the financial
year are set out in note 7 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2012 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on pages 34 and 35.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2012 (2011: HK$nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during
the year are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2012, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders was HK$595,699,000 (2011:
HK$517,027,000) which represented the net balance of
contributed surplus of approximately HK$596,248,000 (2011:
HK$596,248,000), general reserves of approximately
HK$1,819,941,000 (2011: HK$1,417,056,000) and accumulated
losses of approximately HK$1,820,490,000 (2011:
HK$1,496,277,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, turnover attributable to the Group’s
one major customer accounted for 99.97% of the total turnover
for the year.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the
Group’s one major supplier was accounted for the Group’s
100% of the total purchase for the year.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of
this report were:

Chairman and executive director
Mr Yeung Ngo

Executive Directors

Mr. Pierre Seligman (Managing Director)

Mr. Yang Yuchun

Ms. Jin Yan

Mr. Chan Wai Kwong Peter (resigned on 30 April 2012)

Mr. On Kien Quoc (redesignated as non-executive director
on 12 October 2011)

Non-executive Director

Mr. On Kien Quoc (redesignated as non-executive director
on 12 October 2011)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Yin Tat Man

Mr. Choi Shek Chau

Mr. Choy Tak Ho

Mr. Fan Chuan (appointed on 6 January 2012)

Mr. Chong Chi Wah (resigned on 6 January 2012)
Mr. Tam Kam Biu William (resigned on 5 May 2011)

In accordance with Bye-law 88 of the Company’s byelaws, Ms.
Jin Yan, Mr. Yang Yuchun and Mr. Choy Tak Ho shall retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election and re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of
its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Except for the details set out in note 43 to the financial
statements, no other contract of significance to which the
Company, any of its fellow subsidiaries or its subsidiaries was
a party, in which a Director had a material interest, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2012, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives and their associates in the
shares of the Company as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”) or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code”) were as follows:

Long position in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (the
“Shares”) in the Company

Number of

Name of Directors Shares

v 4=

EEnR

Mr. Yeung Ngo (“Mr. Yeung”) 2,536,231,884

NERS A ([R5 D (Note a)
(MizEa)
Mr. Pierre Seligman (“Mr. Seligman”) 44,491,800
Pierre Seligman 5£ 4 ([ Seligman %2 4 |) (Note b)
(MizEb)
Mr. Chan Wai Kwong Peter (“Mr. Chan”) 8,750,000
BRANEE(TBREE]D) (Note ¢)
(M7Ec)
Mr. Yin Tat Man (“Mr. Yin”) 1,000,000
REXRE(REE]D (Note d)
(MtsEd)
Notes:

a. Mr. Yeung is beneficially interested in 2,536,231,884 shares of the
Company. Among those shares, 295,231,884 shares would be issued by
the exercise of the convertible notes.

b. Mr. Seligman is beneficially interested in 44,491,800 shares. Among those
shares, 29,491,800 were share options granted by the Company and
15,000,000 shares are the shares of the Company.

c. Mr. Chan is beneficially interested in 8,750,000 shares. Among those
shares, 8,000,000 were share options granted by the Company and
750,000 shares are the shares of the Company. Mr. Chan resigned as an
executive director of the Company on 30 April 2012.

d. Mr. Yin is beneficially interested in 1,000,000 share options granted by the
Company.

EERTETRAEZRSESR

R-Z2——#=A=+—R SERIETRASB
PR %5 2 B AR A ) 2 B 5 R I R AR A
ARREES RS0 ([ 5 RSP )) £ 352
WAREZ BMAZERERAE BB LTAT
EFRTEFRHORETA((BETANEAE
ARFREBBARFHERAR (BRHA)) 2E
HRARWT :

RAQXBEREEOIEBTEBER(RSD ) 2
50}

Percentage of
issued share

Type of interest capital
BRI

= E R ALt

Beneficial 20.98%

B

Beneficial 0.37%

B

Beneficial 0.07%

=g

Beneficial 0.01%

B

FiE

LB B AR R]2,536,231,884 f i 15 - Nz Z D
s+ 15295,231,884 BRAXD HE R AT LR RIBETTIE RS 3E1T -

o

b. Seligman %t 4 & 25 #E 5 44,491,800 i 10 - Rz SR
AN A FE 2 8 R (5 29,491,800 % © AR A Z A5
15,000,000 % °

c. BRoLAEE A 8,750,000 AR (D - MZERMD T - ARBK

i 2 B % i 15 8,000,000 % + AN A &) 2 B 17 1 750,000 f% ©
REEN_F——FMOA=+HBHERRRANTES -

d. RAELEEZHEA 1,000,000 AR B H 2 AL E
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2012, none of the
Directors or chief executives, nor their associates, had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTIONS

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the share
option scheme adopted by the Company on 29 July 2002 (the
“Scheme”).

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to grant
options to employees, executives or officers of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and other persons who have made a
contribution to the Group as incentives and/or rewards for their
contributions to the Company or its subsidiaries.

According to the Scheme, the Board may grant options to the
eligible participants as defined in the Scheme to subscribe for
such number of shares as the Board may determine. Options
granted should be accepted within 30 days from the date of
offer. Upon acceptance of the options, the grantee shall pay
HK$1 to the Company by way of consideration for the grant.

The exercise price of options shall be determined by the Board,
save that such price will not be less than the highest of (a) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; (b) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; or (c) the nominal value of a share.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the Company must not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company on the
date of approval and adoption of the Scheme provided that the
Company may at any time seek approval from its shareholders
to refresh the limit to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date
of approval by the shareholders in general meeting where such
limit is refreshed. Options previously granted under any share
option schemes of the Company (including those outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed in accordance with such schemes or
exercised options) will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the limit as refreshed.
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The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(including exercised and outstanding options) to each eligible
participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant.
Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive Directors or their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s issued share capital on the date of grant or with a
value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance
by the Company’s shareholders.

The period during which an option may be exercised will be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no
options can be exercised more than 10 years after it has been
granted. There is no general requirement that an option must
be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised.
The Scheme will expire on 29 July 2012.

RBERHBEREASZAEMN12@AR - BTE
BERBERZEERBZA I LARBEMEMER
BT EIER 2 BRI (BRETERRITRZ BE)
MEHTRAEATETZENAE  THREER
HEREEAZC BTN Z1% - WA EBRHK
BYFRTEFARERAZHBEAERR TR
ANFEHBEAARRRE L AMZEETRAZ01%
S B{EHE 5,000,000 T2 BAHE - AIZAEKARR
BIRCRHLE

BRETENSAESS2RET  EERERE
B R B HBE SR 10 FRBIARAIT{E - AAFW
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The movements in share options granted under the Scheme RARFEREZT B LEREZ 80T :
during the year are shown below:

Exercise price
i
Granted Exercised Cancelled  Transferred Cancelled Lapsed  Transferred
Before Adter Outstanding  duringthe  duringthe ~ duringthe  duringthe  Outstanding  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  Outstanding
Current position Date of grant 24.7.2009 24.7.2009  Exercisable period at 31.3.2010 year year year year  at31.3.2011 year year year

TAE  RoBEAE ? =
tA tA =A=t-A
BERL REAH StRRE CtRA% {168 A RERRH  REAME  REREE  REAER MATE  REREE  RERAN RERER HATE
HKS HK$

" e
AT BT

Directors of the Company
ALRRES
Pierre Seligman 25.11.2004 00880 00740 20.12.2004-19.122014 27,581,400 - - - — 27581400 — - - 27,581,400
“EENE ZTTMET-ACTEE
t-A=tER ZE-RETZRTAR
2262005 0.1660 01390 27.6.2005-26.6.2015 1,910,400 - - - - 1,910,400 - - - 1,910,400
%%n% ZEEREAACTLRE
ABZtzA ZF-RFAACAE
Chan Wal Kwong, Peter 134.2010 NA 01870 28.4.2010-27.42020 — 3,000,000 — — — 3,000,000 — - - 3,000,000
WAk Z3-%F i - S L) e AV EY
mA+=H ZTIRFMACHLR
6.1.2011 NA 01414 10.12011-9.1.2021 — 5,000,000 — — — 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
T—F 3] —F—5-f1BE
—-ArA Z3=-5-ANR
YinTat Man 134.2010 NA 01870 28.42010-27.42020 — 500,000 — — — 500,000 - - - 500,000
REX 2% TR “R-TEMACTNRE
mA+=H ZRCRERACHER
6.1.2011 NA 01414 10.1.2011-9.1.2021 — 500,000 — — — 500,000 - - - 500,000
3 3] —R—5-fTHE
—-ArH ZZ-5-AnR
Employees 22.6.2005 0.1660 01390  20.7.2005- 19.7.2015 1,194,000 - - - (1,194,000) - - - - -
[E8 ¥TR% ZETRELACAZ
~AZTZA “2-REEATAA
49,2007 05660 04740 3.10.2007-2.10.2017 22,387,500 - - - 8358000 30,745,500 —  (21492,000) - 9,253,500
-+ 3 ZELLETAZRE
hARE ZE-+ETAZR
134.2010 NA 01870  28.42010-27.4.2020 — 39,500,000 - - 3000000 42,500,000 — (38500000) 17,000,000 21,000,000
Z3-%F i - S L) b AV EY
mAt=H ZEIRFRACHLR
6.1.2011 NA 01414 10.1.2011-9.1.2021 —  63500,000 — — 2,000,000 65,500,000 —  (10,000,000) — 55,500,000
T—F 3] “F—5-f1BE
—-AnA Z3=-5-ANhR
Consultants 22.12.2003 0.1660 01340 1.1.2004-1.1.2014 19,243,705 — — - - 19,243,705 - — — 19,243,705
B 3= ZRTRE-A-HE
e o “3-B5-A-R
25.11.2004 00880 00740 20.12.2004 - 19.12.2014 27,581,400 - - - — 27581400 - - - 27,581,400
ITmE CEIRFTRCTAZ
T-A=t8R ZR-RETATAR
2262005 0.1660 01390 20.7.2005- 19.7.2015 118,206,000 - - - 1,194000 119400000  (1,194,000) — — 118206000
=ik ZTTRFLACTAE
AAZtzA ZR-REEATAR
49,2007 05660 04740 3.10.2007-210.2017 389,602,200 - - — (8358000 381244200 (4776,000) - — 376468200
ZETHE ZETLETAZEE
hARR ZE-tE+AZR
134.2010 NA 01870 28.42010-27.42020 — 612,500,000 (600,000)  (305,000,000)  (3,000,000) 303,900,000 (3,000,000) —  (17,000000) 283,900,000
%% 3] ZE-TEMACTNEE
mA+=H ZRCREMACLR
6.1.2011 NA 01414 10.1.2011-9.1.2021 — 646,500,000 — — (2,000,000) 644,500,000 (1,000,000) - — 643,500,000
3 TER —2—F-fTHE
—-ArH ZZZ-5-ANR
Directors and employees
of an associate 49,2007 05680 04740 3.10.2007-2.102017 35,820,000 — — - — 3,820,000 —  (35820000) — —
BELTESRER TETHE ZRRLETAZEE
hAmE Z3-tF1AZH
Exercisable at the
end of the year 643,526,605 1,371,000,000 (600,000)  (305,000,000) — 1708926605  (9970,000) (105,812,000) — 1593144605
EREFNE
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ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, any of its fellow subsidiaries or its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors and their respective associates had any
interest in a business which competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2012, the interests or short positions of the
following parties in the shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the Shares

W BB IR D SRR 2 R B

B EXFREEIN - AR REAREEKE AR
SKE B A R R E R BLE S S 28
HESEFTEBARQRREMEMEABERZ
e fn Sk iB 1R T 2 2 o

EERHFUREP 2 ER

BRESUANEZTAZHBEARBAEEREFE
BT A BT A T Y A P A (AT AR

FERR

RIE-——F=ZA=1+—H BERAREZFRX
HIE R 336 IRATF B2 A PTEl - THIALRA
RABDFHEB ZEEIARIT

REGZHR

Approximate

Directly
beneficially

Through
controlled

percentage of
issued share

owned corporation Total number capital
Z8 HEBTRAE

Name of Shareholder ZEE e MABED L

Mr. Yeung Ngo (“Mr. Yeung”) 8354 ([1P%&4£])

(note 1) (Kiat 1) 2,536,231,884 — 2,536,231,884 20.98%
Mr. Li Di (“Mr. Li") (note 2) T ([ERE]D
(Kizt2) 112,080,000 591,941,027 703,971,027 5.82%
Mr. Zheng Zhi Hong BREAT S A
(“Mr. Zheng") (note 3) (T8B5E 4 1) (K1a£3) 703,862,660 — 703,862,660 5.82%
Notes: Bt
1. Mr. Yeung is beneficially interested in 2,536,231,884 shares of the Company 1. Pt E#=HEAANF2536,231,884 % AE 11 > Rz ER1D

whereas 295,231,884 shares would be issued by the exercise of the convertible F 295,231,884 AR A7 1§ S AT A AR AR MET TR R 34T ©

notes.

2. Mr. Li is beneficially interested in 591,941,027 through his wholly controlled 2.
entities namely Topskill Holdings Limited and Multichannel Investments Limited J Multichannel Investments Limited & 25 # & A& 2 7]
whereas he is directly beneficially interested in 112,030,000 shares of the 591,941,027 i i {n + W & 5 & w A 42 7] 112,030,000 ik
Company. &7 o

FHRAEFBH R E TS E ETopskil Holdings Limited

3. Mr. Zheng is beneficially interested in 703,862,660 shares of the Company. 3. PS4 B A AN A A) 703,862,660 X A% 15 ©
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Save as disclosed above, the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO shows that as at 31 March 2012,
the Company had not been notified of any other person who
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year under review, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any listed
securities of the Company.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Company and the Group as at
31 March 2012 are set out in note 33 to the financial
statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 148.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company had adopted the Model Code set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the directors. All Directors
have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company,
that they had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2012.

CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

The Company had complied with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
March 2012 except for some deviations from the code
provisions, details of which and other further information on the
Company'’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis and the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 6 to 11 and pages 16 to 21
respectively.

Annual Report 2012 ik

B EXPIIEEIN  REEH L RDIF 336 1KE
Fe2MAER R_E——F=A=+—H &2
R EENE B T EMALRAR RN RAER
B EARERIAR

BE HEIWEEEALQFzLEHES

REBFER  AARREEAMNBRARMERE -
H & S B AR D AE - THEES

B
ARFARARER-F——F=A=+—AZHEXR
BB TIBAAR B RT3 03 -

LFEMBHRE
AEERBEAEANBRFEZGAREREERS
ERESIHANE 148K -

BRRERE
ARRZARMBRAREAPIL EERARAE
B BIMIR A R S B RERATE -

ESETESXEZNERESTA

ARBCHM TR+ AE 2 RETIRE
FETEFRGZBTTH - BARFRAMEES
FHEEERE  MEEFHRRENEE_F—=
FoAZT - HUEFE-BEETHRETAMEZMR
FEER

BREEASFA
RARBIREBE-_E——F=A=+—HILEER—
BB FMARIK S ErE 2 TR RS
SFRMES - BB REMBERNARCEERE
BlziE—H &R DRHNECENNBEZERER
WROMAREI6E21 BEZEERARENR -

29



Directors’ Report

EFERE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficiency of public float
throughout the year ended 31 March 2012.

AUDITORS

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu resigned as auditors of the
Company on 24 February 2012, and Messrs. HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng were appointed as auditors of the Company on 1
March 2012 to fill the casual vacancy so arising. The accounts
for the year were audited by Messrs. HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming
annual general meeting. In March 2012, the practice of Messrs.
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng was reorganised as HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited. A resolution for the appointment of HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors of the Company
for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Pierre Seligman
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 29 June 2012
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i 31/F, Gloucester Tower
- hER The Landmark
H LB Ei] dﬁj— * ld- . Zi'f% d AT 1198 11 Pedder Street
odgson Impey &heng I Central
Chartered Accountants HE TR E 1 Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA SOLAR ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Solar Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 34 to 147, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2012, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

B ZBEN RS

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

The auditors’ report dated 27 June 2011 issued by the
predecessor auditors in respect of its audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2011 was qualified in view as a result of reasons summarised
in the basis for qualified opinion paragraph therein.

We were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to enable us to assess the qualified opinion for the
year ended 31 March 2011. Any adjustments found to be
necessary to the opening balances as at 1 April 2011 may
affect the results and related disclosures in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2012. The comparative figures for the year
ended 31 March 2012 shown in these consolidated financial
statements may not be comparable with the figures for the
current year.

Any adjustments or additional disclosures found to be
necessary in respect of the above matters will have a
consequential significant effect on the financial position of the
Company and the Group as at 31 March 2012 and 2011 and
the financial performance and cash flows of the Group for the
years then ended, and the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

B BEN RS

OPINION

In our opinion, except for the matters as described in the Basis
for Qualified Opinion paragraphs, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group as at 31 March 2012 and of its loss and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2011 were audited by predecessor auditors
who expressed a qualified opinion on those statements on 27
June 2011.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 June 2012
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FeR2EIAER

Continuing operations

Revenue

Costs of long-term service contracts of
photovoltaic business

Gross profit
Other income, gains and losses
Loss on financial instruments
Staff costs
Consultancy expenses
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Impairment loss on goodwill
Impairment loss on intangible assets
Impairment loss on available-for-sale
investments
Impairment loss on loan receivable
Allowance for obsolete inventories
Other operating expenses
Share of result of associates
Finance costs

Loss before taxation
Taxation

Loss for the year from continuing operations

Discontinued operations
Loss for the year from
discontinued operations

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax
— Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss for the year
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2012

—E—CfF

HK$’000
FET

2011
—F——F
HK$'000
THT

315,686 174,418
(308,385) (169,296)
7,301 5,122
741 14
(4,787) (859)
(16,079) (20,685)
(1,171) (159,836)
(404) (207)
(14,058) (14,058)
— 15,552
(145,325) —
(49,400) —
(15,038) —
(5,000) —
(3,777) —
(18,707) (17,184)
(1,254) (265)
(2,878) —
(269,836) (192,406)
475 —
(269,361) (192,406)
— (6,414)
(269,361) (198,820)
6,130 50
(263,231) (198,770)

CHINA SOLAR ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED A EIR#ZXEREREZERBRAE



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FeREBRAE

2012 2011
=& —=——fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T8 T

Loss for the year attributable to owners AARREEGTFEER
of the Company

— Loss for the year from — RERFECEER
continuing operations 2 FEEE (247,443) (190,690)
— Loss for the year from — RE BRI EET
discontinued operations 2 FEEBE = (6,414)
(247,443) (197,104)
Loss for the year from continuing operations 78/ 7 JE 28 I 25 15 3 5
attributable to non-controlling interests BECEER 2 FEBER
of the Company (21,918) (1,716)
(269,361) (198,820)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to:  JE{5 2 E B 1B 4458 -
— Owners of the Company — ARRRE (241,313) (197,054)
— Non-controlling interests — IR R (21,918) (1,716)
(263,231) (198,770)
Loss per share attributable to owners RAERRREGERER
of the Company (HK cents) (&) 16
From continuing and REFEMDRIEEEERE
discontinued operations
— Basic and diluted — EAREE (2.18) (2.73)
From continuing operations REFELEER
— Basic and diluted — EAREE (2.18) (2.64)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BRANFAZEREVBHREN—HD -

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
REMBKAE

2012 2011
=& —=——fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHTT
Non-current assets FIRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENRE 17 106,494 224
Prepaid lease payments FEREENRK 18 52,258 —
Construction-in-progress EETRE 19 83,417 —
Intangible assets mEE 20 4,485 67,943
Goodwill [SES 21 329,435 36,592
Interests in associates RN o - e 22 2,596 3,850
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE 23 — 15,038
Long-term prepayment REBFEI IR 24 8,108 —
Loan receivable FEWE R 25 = 5,000
586,793 128,647
Current assets REBEE
Prepaid lease payments FERHEEMRK 18 1,179 —
Inventories FE 26 12,694 —
Amount due from a customer FEWEF4TE TIERIA
for contract work 27 110,017 218,305
Deposits, prepayments and & BRAFEREA
other receivables FEU R IE 28 123,865 26,524
Held-for-trading investments BIEEB®RE 29 12,461 17,817
Cash and bank balances & RIRTTEEH 30 10,687 93,224
270,903 355,870
Total assets EEHE 857,696 484,517
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Government grant BT & 34 115,913 —
Convertible notes A AR = 35 23,577 —
Deferred tax liabilities EXEFIRA R 36 8,312 —
147,802 —
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ReRBKAE

2012 2011
=F—=F =%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Current liabilities =R
Trade payables FERTBR X 31 577 —
Other payables and accruals HAb T R IE R EET & A 32 7,265 16,246
Amount due to a director B —RESEHIE 33 2,130 —
9,972 16,246
Total liabilities BEAH 157,774 16,246
Equity fE=
Share capital &% 7R 37 120,873 78,806
Reserves & 601,079 389,577
Equity attributable to owners PG &Y Ay £
of the Company 721,952 468,383
Non-controlling interests TR e (22,030) (112)
Total equity R 699,922 468,271
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 857,696 484,517
Net current assets REBEEFE 260,931 339,624
Total assets less current liabilities EERERRBEE 847,724 468,271
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on KEZGN T —_FRNAZTNABIEREKERIT
29 June 2012 and are signed on its behalf by: Wi THEEREEE
Yeung Ngo
L Pierre Seligman
Director Director
= =
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BT RZSHRAVBEmEN—D -

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ReEREERE

Attributable to owners of the Company Attributable to non-controlling interests
KRBT FERRRE(

Share of
net assets/ Share
Share Convertible (liabilities) option
Share Share option  Contributed  Exchange Warrant notes equity Accumulated of reserve of Total
capital premium reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total  subsidiaries a subsidiary Total equity
EEREAR -#
§ TAREE HEE KEAR
Bx  RHER f AR EARR f RithR it (RRFE BRERRE st L i
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 (S ($000 HK§'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000
ThR ThR Thn TERL TR Thn BT Thn TER
(Note a) (Note b Note c) (Note d) (Note a)

At 1 April 2010 RZZ-F5MmA-R 71580 1,081,266 126977 596,248 (6) 2413 —  (1465,616) 433,662 627 a7 1,604 435,266
Loss for the year EEER - — - - - - —  (197104) (197,104 (1,716) - (1716)  (198,820)
Exchange differences arising on RERHERELY

translation of foreign operations EzE = = - - 50 - - - 50 - - - 50
Total comprehensive loss FNREERERE

for the year - - - - 50 - (o0 (97084 (1716) — (1718 (1%770)
Exercise of warrants i ARESR 20 303 = = = (246) = = i = = = n
Shares issued EEfRG 7,200 74,880 - - - - - - 82,080 - - - 82080
Transaction costs atfributable to EIRBERRARA

issue of shares — (100) — — - — — — (100) — — — (100)
Recognition of equity-settied BIEREER

share based payments WA R - — 149605 - - - - — 149605 - = — 149605
Exercise of share options fifEERE 6 183 (76) = = = = = 3 = = = 113
Cancellation of share options HHERE - - (38,949) - — — - 38,949 - - - - -

At31March 2011 and 1 April 2011 RZF——%

ZA=1-Bk
“E-—4mA-A 78806 1,156,532 236,557 596,248 44 23967 —  (1628771) 468,383 (1,089) a7 (112) 468,271
Loss for the year FEBR - - - - - - — M) (a3 (21918) — 191 (269361)
Exchange diferences aisngon ~ BESEREEZ
translation of foreign operations EfZE - - - - 6,130 - - - 6,130 - - - 6,130
Total comprehensive loss for the year  £R2EABRLE = = - - 6,130 - — (4743 (41313) (21919 = (21918)  (263,231)
Release of warrants reserve upon —— RREZERERR
expiry of warrants AREERE - — — - - (23,967) - 23967 - - — — -
Issue of shares upon acquisiton of  WEEHBAREL T
subsidiaries i3 42,067 436,139 = = = = = = 478,206 - - - 478,206
Expenses paid in comectionwith ~ WEEHBAFEZ T
issue of shares upon acquisition R ANES
of subsidiaries - (60) - - - — - - (60) - - - (60)
Issue of convertible notes upon [N
acquisiton of subsidiaries TERZE = = = = = = 20043 = 20043 = = = 20043
Deferred tax arising fom issue of BT TARZEES
convertiole notes HEEHR - - - - - - (3307) - (3307) — — — (3.307)
Cancelation/lapse of share options ~~ BR &8/ % - — (25,963) — — — - 25,963 - - - — —
At 31 March 2012 i St
“R=t-R 120873 1,592,611 210594 596,248 6,174 — 16,736 (1,821,264) 721,952 (23,007) 977 (22,030) 699,922
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HFeEERR

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The share option reserve arises from the share-based compensation
regarding the share options granted by the Company and a subsidiary as
referred to in note 42.

(i) Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 11 August 2001, a
capital reorganisation was undertaken which involved share
subdivision on the basis that every issued and unissued share of
HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company was divided into two
subdivided shares of HK$0.05 each and the nominal value of each
of the subdivided shares in issue was reduced from HK$0.05 to
HK$0.01 by cancelling HK$0.04 paid up capital on each issued
subdivided share. Every unissued subdivided share of HK$0.05
each was further divided into five new shares of HK$0.01 each.
The reduction in share capital amounting to HK$419,002,000 was
credited to the contributed surplus.

(ii) Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 29 July 2002, a capital
reorganisation was undertaken on 30 July 2002 to consolidate
shares on the basis that every twenty issued and unissued shares
of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company were consolidated
into one consolidated share of HK$0.20 each. The nominal value of
each of the consolidated share in issue was reduced from HK$0.20
to HK$0.01 by cancelling HK$0.19 paid up capital on each issued
consolidated share and the subdivision of each unissued
consolidated share of HK$0.20 each into twenty new shares of
HK$0.01 each and as a result, an amount of HK$177,246,000 was
credited to the contributed surplus.

On 17 December 2009, the Company entered into a warrant placing
agreement (the “Warrant Placing Agreement”) with Kingston Securities
Limited (the “Placing Agent”) pursuant to which the Company agreed to
place, through the Placing Agent, 1,131,600,000 warrants, on a fully
underwritten basis, at the issue price of HK$0.023 per warrant.

Pursuant to the Warrant Placing Agreement, the warrants entitle the
holders to subscribe for a maximum of 1,131,600,000 new ordinary shares
of the Company at an initial subscription price of HK$0.14 per share,
subject to anti-dilutive adjustments, at any time from 10 February 2010 to
9 February 2012, both dates inclusive. Each warrant carries the right to
subscribe for one new ordinary share of the Company. The placing of
warrants was completed on 5 February 2010. The gross proceeds on the
issue of warrants was HK$26,027,000 and the net proceeds, after
deducting transaction cost of HK$1,814,000, were recognised in the
warrant reserve in equity.

All existing warrants of the Company in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the instrument dated 8 February 2010 constituting the
warrants expired as at 9 February 2012. During the year ended 31 March
2011, 2,000,000 warrants had been exercised by registered holders.

On 15 April 2011, the Company issued zero-coupon convertible notes with
principal amount of approximately HK$40,742,000 as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Stream Fund High-Tech Group Corp.
Ltd. (“Stream Fund High-Tech”). Each note entitles the holder to convert to
ordinary shares of the Company at a conversion price of approximately
HK$0.1242 per share.

The convertible notes equity reserve represents the equity component of
the convertible notes issued.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FeEHEeRER

Operating activities
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Net exchange gain
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Bad debts written off
Change in fair value of held-for-trading
investments
Government grant income
Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Allowance for obsolete inventories
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
Amortisation of long-term prepayment
Impairment loss on intangible assets
Impairment loss on goodwill
Impairment loss on available-for-sale
investments
Impairment loss on loan receivable
Finance costs
Share-based payment expenses
Share of results of associates
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Operating cash flows before
working capital changes
Increase in held-for-trading investments
Decrease/(increase) in amount due from
a customer for contract work
Increase in amount due to a director
Increase in deposits, prepayments and
other receivables
Increase in inventories
(Decrease)/increase in trade and
other payables

Cash used in operations
Interest received

Net cash used in operating activities
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2012
—E—CfF
HK$’000
FTERT

2011
—F——F
HK$'000
THT

(269,836) (198,820)
(3) (71)
(46) =
404 207
= 684
4,787 —
(692) —
137 —
3,777 —
14,058 14,058
1,169 —
171 —
49,400 —
145,325 —
15,038 —
5,000 —
2,878 —
— 149,605
1,254 265
— (16,387)
(27,179) (50,459)
(478) (855)
49,004 (174,418)
2,092 —
(23,587) (32,026)
(5,868) —
(55,079) 1,432
(61,095) (256,326)
3 71
(61,092) (256,255)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FeEHEeRER

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Investment in construction-in-progress

Purchase of available-for-sale investments

Net cash inflow from acquisition
of subsidiaries

Net cash proceeds from
disposal of subsidiaries

Loan receivable granted

Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities

Financing activities

Repayment to a shareholder

Proceeds from issue of shares

Share issue expenses

Proceeds from exercise of warrants
Proceeds from exercise of share options

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities

Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year

Analysis of balances of cash and
cash equivalents:
Cash and bank balances

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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2012 2011
—E——F —T——%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THTT
BRETH
BEME  BWEM&E (5,510) (537)
RERTIEZIE (20,041) —
BEAHEERE — (7,944)
WEEH B AR R ZIBE 38(a) &
MAHEE 38(b) 464 —
HEMRBARERZES
FriS sk IEF5E — 19,771
EREZERER — (5,000)
BRETE (FTA) FiBE$
FH (25,087) 6,290
BMEEH
M —BIRFER — (4,199)
BT TS RIA — 82,080
BTRGAY (60) (100)
ITERBRAEEBRIE — 77
TR R REFT 1S K18 — 113
BEEE (FTA) i8R $
FE (60) 77,971
HEeRBLEEYRDFHE
(86,239) (171,994)
RENNEESRBESEEY
93,224 265,168
GNEE [ SR B ) 2 3,702 50
RERNBESRESEEY
10,687 93,224
HeRBESEEYEHRDIT
B MIRTTES 10,687 93,224
BN ARERAPBRRN D -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=8 MR

42

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”). The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the annual report. The Company
has established a Sponsored Level | American Depository
Receipt Programme and the trading of its American
depository shares on an over-the counter market
commenced on 29 January 2007 in the United States of
America (the “US”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Group’s subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the following
activities:

— development, manufacturing, marketing and sale of
photovoltaic solar cells, modules and panels for
generating solar electric power, establishment of
solar electric power generation plant and related
training and consulting services (“photovoltaic
business”)

—  participation in primary and secondary securities
markets

The Group was also engaged in capital market activities
(provision of capital market advisory services) and
financing activities (provision of commercial and personal
loans) which were discontinued in the year ended 31
March 2011 (see note 39).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new
and revised standards, amendments and interpretations
(“new HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are
relevant to its operations and effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2011.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued

in 2010

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009)  Related Party Disclosures

HK(IFRIC*)-Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
(Amendment) Requirement

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments

IFRIC represents the IFRS Interpretations Committee.

The application of the above new HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material effect on the amounts reported
in these consolidated financial statements and/or
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. ERHMTREEITBBMBREER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING ((ERBVBREED ] &)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

REE Y EIRF A 52 BB R ERD
HA] RARIERT B AM B HEER -

effective:
HKFRS 1 (Amendments) Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of BAEHERS L BE BRI
Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters' EREACEHPY) BRERAESE T RS
HKFRS 1 (Amendments) Government Loans* BAMBREER BB
£15% (BETA)
HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures — Transfers of Financial BAEHERS L RE— SREENEER
Assets' ENEACCHPN)
HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures — Offsetting Financial BB R BIREES RE—RHEREE
Assets and Financial Liabilities* ENEACEHPN) Lemas
Amendments to HKFRS 7 Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9 BAPBREES EBUBREED
and HKFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures® ETRRERHNB £ 95R M4 B
HEEBFRAER] LB R
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments® BBWS RS ERE 95 SRMIAS
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements* EEUEREEAE10  SAMBHRER
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements* EEUERELRE 115 AERH
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other ERUEREERE 125  REMEESES
Entities* R
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement EEUEREERE 135 DABEHE

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income?

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
Assets?

LR IEALACHEN)

BRGHEAE 125
(B8TA)

MHBHRANZ — Eft
E2EBAERNZS

EEBE - WEHAEE?

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)  Employee Benefits* BEBETEAE19% EEREF
(22— —FEET)
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)  Separate Financial Statements* BEGHERE 27 BURBRR!

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011)

Investments in Associates and

(ZT——F4EB3)
B GTERE 285

REERARAERH

Joint Ventures® (Z2——F&B) mRE"

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and BRI ERERRNGE] REREERSRARS
Financial Liabilities®

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production B (BRMBmERE BERESEERRN
Phase of a Surface Ming* ZE®)-ZBFE20% FIERBY AR

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012

NoT——F A A2 RRBNFERRDER
ZFE- A Bz R FE AR

1 1

2 2 R=F

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 3 R —ZF+A— B2 BRI FE BRI
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 4 R-E—=F— A — AR ERBNERE BB ER
9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 5 R-E—ME—F— A2 RGN EE M AR
® Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 6 RZT—AF—A— Az EBRIANFE R ER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 7

The amendments to HKFRS 7 titled Disclosures —
Transfers of Financial Assets increase the disclosure
requirements for transactions involving transfers of
financial assets. These amendments are intended to
provide greater transparency around risk exposures
when a financial asset is transferred but the transferor
retains some level of continuing exposure in the asset.
The amendments also require disclosures where transfers
of financial assets are not evenly distributed throughout
the period.

The revised disclosure requirements contained in the
amendments HKFRS 7 are intended to help investors and
other financial statements users to better assess the
effect or potential effect of offsetting arrangements on a
company’s financial position. The amendments also
improve transparency in the reporting of how companies
mitigate credit risk, including disclosure of related
collateral pledged or received. Companies and other
entities are required to apply the amendments for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, and also
interim periods within those annual periods. The required
disclosures should be provided retrospectively.

The directors do not anticipate that these amendments to
HKFRS 7 will have a significant effect on the Group’s
disclosures regarding transfers of trade receivables
previously effected. However, if the Group enters into
other types of transfers of financial assets in the future,
disclosures regarding those transfers may be affected.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments”

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as issued in November
2009) introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 amended
in 2010 includes the requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:

Under HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets that
are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are
subsequently measured at either amortised cost or
fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end
of subsequent accounting periods. All other debt
investments and equity investments are measured
at their fair values at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9,
entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity
investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (Continued)

° In relation to financial liabilities, the significant
change relates to the classification and
measurement of financial liabilities relates to the
presentation of changes in the fair value of financial
liability (designated as at fair value through profit or
loss) attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability. Specifically, under HKFRS 9, for financial
liabilities that are designated as at fair value through
profit or loss, the amount of change in the fair value
of the financial liability that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of
the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in
other comprehensive income would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial
liability’s credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under HKAS
39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value
of the financial liability designated as at fair value
through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 in
the future may have significant impact on amounts
reported in respect of the Groups’ financial assets and
financial liabilities. Regarding the Group’s financial
assets, however, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review
has been completed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on
consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and
disclosures was issued, including HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11,
HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and HKAS 28
(as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described
below.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements replaces
the part of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements that deal with consolidated financial
statements and HK (SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special
Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 includes a new definition of
control that contains three elements: (a) power over an
investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability to use
its power over the investee to affect the amount of the
investor’s returns.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests In Joint Ventures
and HK (SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-
Monetary Contributions by Venturers. HKFRS 11 deals
with how a joint arrangement of which two or more parties
have joint control should be classified. Under HKFRS 11,
joint arrangements are classified as joint operations or
joint ventures, depending on the rights and obligations of
the parties to the arrangements. In contrast, under HKAS
31, there are three types of joint arrangements: joint
controlled entities, jointly controlled assets and jointly
controlled operations.

In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS 11 are required
to be accounted for using the equity method of
accounting, whereas jointly controlled entities under
HKAS 31 can be accounted for using the equity method
of accounting or proportionate accounting.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and applied to those
entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint
arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated
structured entities. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than those
in the current standards.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures
(Continued)

These five standards are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Earlier application
is permitted provided that all of these five standards are
applied early at the same time.

The directors of the Company anticipate that these five
standards will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the annual period beginning 1
April 2013 and the application of these five standards
may have no significant impact on the results and
financial position of the Group. However, the application
of HKFRS 12 may result in more extensive disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 13 “Fair value measurement”

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair
value measurements and disclosures about fair value
measurements. The standard defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and
requires disclosures about fair value measurements. The
scope of HKFRS 13 is broad; it applies to both financial
instrument items and non-financial instrument items for
which other HKFRSs require or permit fair value
measurements and disclosures about fair value
measurements, except in specified circumstances. In
general, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 13 are
more extensive than those in the current standards. For
example, quantitative and qualitative disclosures based
on the three-level fair value hierarchy currently required
for financial instruments only under HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures will be extended by HKFRS 13
to cover all assets and liabilities within its scope.

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that HKFRS 13 will be adopted in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
annual period beginning on 1 January 2013 and that the
application of the new standard may affect the amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements and
result in more extensive disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation of items of
other comprehensive income”

The amendments to HKAS 1 retain the option to present
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in either a
single statement or in two separate but consecutive
statements. However, the amendments to HKAS 1 require
additional disclosures to be made in the other
comprehensive income section such that items of other
comprehensive income are grouped into two categories:
items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss; and items that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss when specific conditions are met. Income
tax on items of other comprehensive income is required
to be allocated on the same basis.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012. The
presentation of items of other comprehensive income will
be modified accordingly when the amendments are
applied in the future accounting periods.

Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred tax — Recovery
of underlying assets”

The amendments to HKAS 12 provide an exception to the
general principles in HKAS 12 that the measurement of
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities should
reflect the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the entity expects to recover the carrying
amount of an asset. Specially, under the amendments,
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model in accordance with HKAS 40 /nvestment
Property are presumed to be recovered through sale for
the purposes of measuring deferred taxes, unless the
presumption is rebutted in certain circumstances.

The amendments to HKAS 12 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012. The
directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the amendments to HKAS 12 in future accounting
periods may result in adjustments to the amounts of
deferred tax liabilities recognised in prior years regarding
the Group’s investment properties. The directors of the
Company are in the process of assessing the impact on
application of these amendments to HKAS 12 and the
directors of the Company anticipate that these
amendments will have an impact on deferred tax liabilities
of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKAS 19 “Employee benefits”

The amendments to HKAS 19 change the accounting for
defined benefit plans and termination benefits. The most
significant change relates to the accounting for changes
in defined benefit obligations and plan assets. The
amendments require the recognition of changes in
defined benefit obligations and in the fair value of plan
assets when they occur, and hence eliminate the ‘corridor
approach’ permitted under the previous version of HKAS
19. The amendments require all actuarial gains and
losses to be recognised immediately through other
comprehensive income in order for the net pension asset
or liability recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position to reflect the full value of the plan deficit
or surplus.

The amendments to HKAS 19 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and require
retrospective application with certain exceptions.

The amendments to HKAS 32 address inconsistencies in
current practice when applying the offsetting criteria and
clarify:

° the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable
right of set-off”; and

o that some gross settlement systems may be
considered equivalent to net settlement.

The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2014 and are required to
be applied retrospectively.

The Group is in the process of assessing the potential
impact of the above new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application but is not yet in a position to state whether the
above new and revised HKFRSs will have a significant
impact on the Group’s and the Company’s results of
operations and financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (“Ints”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and applicable
disclosures required by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the SEHK (the “Listing Rules”). The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention except for certain
financial instruments which are measured at fair value, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
(including special purpose entities) controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income from
the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance (effective from 1 January 2010 onwards).

3.

FEEFEHE

RRERE
RAMBREDRERBEHMAR(ELES
B AE ) EMNBEM B REER(BEMR
BEEEMBREER  BAGHEN(ELES
SEAD RRE(RED)  BEARER
A~ AR FE R RGGI B X P s LR Al
(TEmRADEREERERRE - B
BHRRIRBELKAEDIRE - HEETRA
AEBEEAENSRTARIN T XHAEES
BURPA)

REBEFBVBRE LN RERE W HIRKRARL
RETERG G TRAEEEERAASK
B 1) & SRR I R e o

REMBBRRDAARANEEEET(E
eI

ETUHBRBFRETAFR RERECHFE

554 -

g

REREEE
RAEPBRRBEARRRIEEG N EE (R
HE AR SESHKENEE)WIMBRE
HARRBERE —HERNMBREERR
UHZBEREHERN IR GESHERZEEN
R -

REARBRHENHBRRNKE MM
mEBER AREBEHE AR A LR
BR) NGRS ZEBRARAR < BE B EE3E
E AR HRE  MEARZ2EKE
REBHEARRERARFFERES(R=_F—
TE—A—BRFBER °

CHINA SOLAR ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED A EIR#ZXEREREZERBRAE



8 M BRI

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of the
Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets (including any goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the
date when control is lost, it derecognises the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost and recognises
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest, with
any resulting difference being recognised as a gain or
loss in profit or loss attributable to the Group. When
assets of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts
or fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss has
been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets. The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of any
investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment transactions of the acquiree or the
replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment
transactions with share-based payment transactions
of the Group are measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition
date; and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value or
another measurement basis required by another HKFRS.

When the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and considered as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments being
made against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that
arise from additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year
from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances
that existed as of the acquisition date. Measurement
period does not exceed one year from the acquisition
date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how the
contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or
a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in
accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would
have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

The policy described above is applied to all business
combinations that take place on or after 1 January 2010.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to
the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in
profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate is described below.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control
over those policies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when the
investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it
is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under
the equity method, investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as
goodwill, which is included with the carrying amount of
the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

Upon disposal of an associate that results in the Group
losing significant influence over that associate, any
retained investment is measured at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition as a financial asset in accordance with HKAS
39. The difference between the previous carrying amount
of the associate attributable to the retained interest and
its fair value is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the
same basis as would be required if that associate had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when it loses significant influence over that
associate.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue and
costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, on the
following basis:

° fees from financial advisory services including
investment advisory fee, referral fee and placement
fee are recognised when the relevant services are
rendered;

° interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

o revenue from long-term service contracts in respect
of photovoltaic business is recognised according to
the percentage of completion of individual contracts
at the end of the reporting period;

o consultancy service income is recognised when the
services are rendered; and

o dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

Long-term services contracts

Where the outcome of a long-term service contract can
be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the contract
activity at the end of the reporting period, measured
based on the proportion of contract costs incurred for
work performed to date relative to the estimated total
contract costs, except where this would not be
representative of the stage of completion. Variations in
contract work, claims and incentive payments are
included to the extent that the amount can be measured
reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a long-term service contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is
recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that it
is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are
recognised as expenses in the period in which they are
incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised
as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings,
the surplus is shown as amounts due from customers for
contract work. For contracts where progress billings
exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as
the amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are
included in the consolidated statement of financial
position, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts
billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer
are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position under trade and other receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised
as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception
of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to
the lessor is included in the consolidated statement of
financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy
on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below).
Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as
a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is
recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-
line basis, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lumpsum upfront
payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a
straight-line basis. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a
finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and
equipment.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except
for:

° exchange differences on foreign currency
borrowings relating to assets under construction for
future productive use, which are included in the
cost of those assets when they are regarded as an
adjustment to interest costs on those foreign
currency borrowings;

° exchange differences on transactions entered into
in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see
the accounting policies below); and

° exchange differences on transactions entered into
in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see
the accounting policies below); and

° exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur
(therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary
items.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which
case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign
currency translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
significant influence over an associate that includes a
foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences is re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in equity under the
heading of foreign currency translation reserve.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred revenue in
the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants (Continued)

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate
of interest is treated as a government grant, measured as
the difference between proceeds received and the fair
value of the loan based on prevailing market interest
rates.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
state-managed retirement benefit scheme are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Equity-settled share-based payment

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted at the
grant date is recognised as an expense in full at the grant
date when the share options granted vest immediately,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve).

For those share options granted which do not vest
immediately, the fair value of services received
determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in the share option reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income/
income statement because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings and
leasehold land (classified as finance leases) held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than properties under
construction as described below), are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the
appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than properties under construction) less
their residual values over their useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The
details of depreciation using over the following rates per
annum and depreciation using over the following rates
per annum and depreciation method are as follows:

Useful life  Residual value

Building 26 years 10% of cost
Plant and machinery 3-12 years 10% of cost
Office equipment, furniture

and fixtures 4-5 years 10% of cost
Motor vehicles 5 years 10% of cost

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and are recognised in profit or loss in the period
when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any).

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that
the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the
cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-
out method. The cost of finished goods and work-in-
progress comprises materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of all production overhead
expenditure. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

Construction-in-progress

Construction-in-progress comprises buildings, plant and
machinery on which construction work or installation has
not been completed and which, upon completion,
management intends to use for long-term purpose. It is
stated at cost which includes construction expenditure
incurred, interest on loan and other direct costs
attributable to the construction or installation less any
accumulated impairment losses. On completion, the
buildings, plant and machinery are transferred to
respective categories at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables, financial assets at fair value though profit
and loss and available-for-sale financial assets (“AFS
financial assets”). The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than financial assets classified as
at fair value through profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value though profit and loss
Financial assets are classified as at fair value though
profit and loss when the financial asset is either held for
trading or it is designated as at fair value though profit
and loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for
trading may be designated as at fair value though profit
and loss upon initial recognition if:

° such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

° the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits
the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at fair value though profit and loss.

Annual Report 2012 43

FESHBER#E)

SRITAE (&)

THEE (B
BAREBEFABRSNEREE
HERBEEYFFHEERNEEREANEE
AR RlgnBERRAREBE AR -

HEBEE :

o IERARTAMRHEEMBA : X

s RUIFEREHBERAKESHFEEND
#PEMTABA -85 BEHHR
BEREHIERNRE X

e EBRRREEWNITELA  WAIEME
REPTE  AIRBARKEERES -

HWEREELIFFHERE - AATEEZUTER
EHERRIEE /R AN BEN AR

o HIETHEBAABRD T ALLEN T
SRR TR B ¢ %

s REREER-MEREELSHMAE
AEMEEMERABHASN S
MREAREHENRREEXRTRER
B ZIBEEMEEMGEUFHERAR
REEA/ENRET YEABEIENE
BRREERAARRER : 3k

e HEKES HEAZEBRATETLAD
BHM—D - MEBEBEERIZE 395
@ TA: ERRAEAFHEEAS
EBHN(BEXRB) EEREAR(EMER
Az °

73



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=8 MR

74

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial assets at fair value though profit and loss are
stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on
remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the ‘other revenue and losses’ line item in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS financial assets)
AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

AFS financial assets are measured at fair value at the end
of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of investments
revaluation reserve. Where the financial asset is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or
loss previously accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market
price in the active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and
must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity
investments are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of the reporting period.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Loans and receivables (including
trade receivables, other receivables, cash and bank
balances) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through
profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at
the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the investment have
been affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is
considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are assessed for impairment on a collective
basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of
delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period of 180 days, as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses
previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed
through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value
subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the
heading of investments revaluation reserve. In respect of
AFS debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently
reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair
value of the investment can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the recognition of the impairment
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables and amount due to a director) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis other than financial liabilities classified as at
financial assets at fair value though profit and loss.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Company are classified
separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Convertible notes (Continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments. This
amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost
basis using the effective interest method until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s
maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole.
This is recognised and included in equity, net of income
tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In
addition, the conversion option classified as equity will
remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised,
in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible note, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to retained profits. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible notes are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross
proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are recognised directly in equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability component and are
amortised over the lives of the convertible notes using the
effective interest method.

Warrants

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by
other than a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments are derivative
financial instruments. Warrants classified as derivative
financial instruments are recognised at their fair values at
the date of issue.

FESTBERE)

SRMIA )

EHEEIKKATA(E)

RRRER (&)

RETEH  AEED AN EBENRFAER
AR T A2 RITH SN ERFG - 2o BiRE
HARERNERANFACARE  EENSE
MEANZTARMBFEHERIE

DERES ZMBETVEBAERBEATAY
AREETHRAES ) SEMET - HHR
RIS M BRI ST R R - Bk
BATAEHNE - WO DERER BB
B—ERENESRN  BEEZRBRERETE
MAELBRT - RIED AR SEREE AR
108 o (RN AT AR R IR B H B DR &
1TE - RERAER BB EBARE R
BRI E R TN BRANERE
Al 2258 -

BRI RREFNRZKATIZME A
RENDEL - DEERERESHED -8
RO R I AE RN ERER - AR
BEMONZHRARIARER D HREE
A AR AR ESERARIRERN S05#

AR
TN EERS HARAEBRATABE
AARBTREMERITECRIA - HEA
FT S BT AMRBEER BT B BRAL B
i -

CHINA SOLAR ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED A EIR#ZXEREREZERBRAE



8 M BRI

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Warrants (Continued)

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by a
fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments are equity instruments. The net
proceeds received from the issue of warrants is
recognised in equity (warrant reserve). The warrant
reserve will be transferred to share capital and share
premium accounts upon the exercise of the warrants.
When the warrants are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in the warrant
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its
entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option to
repurchase part of a transferred asset or retains a
residual interest that does not result in the retention of
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
the Group retains control), the Group allocates the
previous carrying amount of the financial asset between
the part it continues to recognise under continuing
involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the
basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date
of the transfer. The difference between the carrying
amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised
and the sum of the consideration received for the part no
longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss
allocated to it that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that
continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer
recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those
parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related party transactions
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person,

(i)
(if)
(iii)

has control or joint control over, the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or
is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group ; or

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

on entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a)); and

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, management is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

Estimated impairment of intangible assets and
goodwill

As at 31 March 2012, the carrying amount of intangible
assets and goodwill are HK$4,485,000 and
HK$329,435,000 (2011: HK$67,943,000 and
HK$36,592,000) respectively. Determining whether
intangible assets and goodwill are impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which the intangible assets and goodwill have been
allocated. The directors of the Company have taken into
account the signed sales contracts on hand as well as
the sales contracts expected to be signed in the
foreseeable future to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and used
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. Details of
the impairment test are disclosed in notes 20 and 21.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
management estimates the useful lives of these assets to
be 3-26 years. As changes in the expected level of usage
and technological developments could impact the
economic useful lives and the residual values of these
assets, future depreciation charges could be revised. The
management will increase the depreciation charge where
useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it
will write off or write down technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the US.
Significant judgment is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Impairment of available-for-sale investments

The recoverable amounts of the available-for-sale
investments have been determined based on value in use
calculations. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the available-for-sale investments and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the directors of the Company.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The debt profile of trade and other receivables is
reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that the trade and
other receivables balances are collectible and follow up
actions are promptly carried out if the agreed credit
periods have been exceeded. However from time to time,
the Group may experience delays in collection. Where
recoverability of trade and other receivables balances are
called into doubts, specific provisions for trade and other
receivables are made based on credit status of the
debtors, the aged analysis of the receivables balances
and written-off history. Certain receivables may be initially
identified as collectible, yet subsequently become
uncollectible and result in a subsequent write-off of the
related receivables to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Changes in the collectability of
trade and other receivables for which provision are not
made could affect the results of operations.

Provision for obsolete inventories

The management of the Group reviews an aging analysis
at the end of each reporting period, and makes provision
for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items. The
management estimates the net realisable value for such
finished goods based primarily on the latest invoiced
prices and current market conditions. The Group carries
out an inventory review on a product-by-product basis at
the end of each reporting period and makes provision for
obsolete items.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market is determined by valuation techniques.
The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of
methods and make assumptions that are primarily based
on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period.
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5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt
(which includes convertible notes net of cash and cash
equivalents) and equity attributable to owners of the
Company (comprising issued share capital and reserves).

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associates with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the issue of new
shares as well as the issue of new debt.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was

EXEpEE

AEENENEIREE EEBERSEESREIE
H&ETE - BRASEETERAFELSE
28 MARREERALR - AEBEERR
BE X AR -

AEENEARBERREABEFR(BRENR
Re RS FEVMNARRER) RARRK
REEER (REEBITRARER) -

ARBEEGLFRIEREE - ERRE —
By EEEREARAREEBENERED
Rk - AEEEREESHZEZ  BBETH
BARBITHEBEARN - FTERBEARE -

BEHRNEERBLLERDT :

as follows:
2012
—E——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT F&TT
Debt (i) =8=40) 23,577 —
Less: Cash and bank balances (note 30) ko IRE MIRITAE R (M1 30) (10,687) (93,224)
Net debt BEFE 12,890 (93,224)
Equity (ii) 1 (i) 699,922 468,271

Net debt to equity ratio

(i) Debtis defined as convertible notes as described in
note 35.

(i)  Equity includes all share capital and reserves of the
Group that are managed as capital.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Categories of financial instruments

THMITHR
ST AR

2012 2011
—E—_—fF —ET——%F

HK$°000 HK$'000
FET THAT

The Group AEE
Financial assets cREE
Loan and receivables (including cash and E@NEKZIE (BRFERE K&

cash equivalents) REFEW) 178,180 111,636
Available-for-sale investments AN ERE — 15,038
Held-for-trading investments BEEERE 12,461 17,817
Financial liabilities tRIBE
Amortised cost BESHA AR 33,549 5,396
The Company AN F]
Financial assets cREE
Loan and receivables (including cash and &R NEKZE (BRFERE K&

cash equivalents) BE&EEW) 75,972 403,035
Financial liabilities cRIBE
Amortised cost BESHA A 33,804 9,244

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include available-for-
sale investments, loan receivable, trade and other
receivables and deposits, held-for-trading investments,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables,
amount due to a director and convertible notes. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to
market risk or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risk.

SREREREBZERBEK
AEENERTABRAHLERE  BRE
K BURARE MR FERIZS - B1EE
BRE ROTEHLAS  BARRIEEALRE
NRE - BN —R2EERARATBBRER - 1t
FEMTANFBERSHMERE - BFH
TREEMMERFBE LS RBOBERENT
X BEEEEEERERLFRKR - BRER
RABBHRENE BV

5 E R
AEEEETSRARREEEREREERBD
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong, Taiwan, the United
States and the PRC and is exposed to foreign currency
risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to New Taiwan dollars (“TWD”), Renminbi
(“RMB”) and United States dollars (*“USD”). Foreign
exchange risk arises from the foreign currency
denomination of commercial transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group has no significant direct exposure to
foreign currencies as most of the commercial
transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in a
currency same as the functional currency of each entity
of the Group.

Fair value interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to its fixed-rate bank deposits.

The interest rate risk on bank deposits is limited for both
years because of their short maturity.

Cash flow interest rate risk
The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates to the
bank balances which are carried at variable interest rate.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
financial instruments. For variable-rate bank balances, the
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of asset and
liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year.

100 basis points (2011: 100 basis points) increase is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates of the variable-rate bank balances.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2011: 100
basis points) higher and all other variables were constant,
the Group’s loss for the year would decrease by
approximately HK$16,000 (2011: HK$931,000), which
was mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to
interest rates on its variable-rate bank balances. No
sensitivity analysis is prepared for the downside of the
interest rate as the risk of further decrease on bank
interest rate is limited.

Equity price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk in relation to
held-for-trading investments.

For held-for-trading investments, the management
manages the exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risks.

Sensitivity analysis

If the market quoted bid price of the held-for-trading
investments had been 5% higher/lower while all other
variables were held constant, the loss for the year ended
31 March 2012 would decrease/increase by HK$623,000
(2011 decrease/increase by HK$891,000).

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent market risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2012, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which may cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to perform an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has significant concentration of credit risk in
respect of an amount due from a customer for contract
work of HK$110,017,000 (2011: HK$218,305,000) and
loan receivable due from a third party.

THMIR®E)
TREREEBRERBER (&)

mi5E R (&)

BRRE DT (&)

s FIE EFA 100 EER (ZF——F : 1001EE
25 MATAEMEBEERTE  AIREER
FRMNEEEER 416,008 T (=T ——
£ :931,00087T) * FEZRBASEEFHIFE)
FIRRITHERFTFRERNFIERE R o ARIRTTH
EiE— S TNRANRBER - AEEWERF X
TRGERBKE DT

R (ER R R
AEEAZERFEREREMESERER -

HRFEEERE  BEEBBERFEE TR
RBAREMAEREEELRLR

BRE DI

M EEERENMS®RE LA TBS5% -
MmATE M SEEEFTE  ARNEE_S—=
F=ZA=+—HLEFEBEESRD N
623,000 T( =T — —F: B4 18
891,000/ 7T) °

EEERS - BRERERIL T RERE R E
B MBBREIMETKRAED AR -

EEER

RZE-—"F=R=+—0 rx&EEE%FH

REBTEBMALEBAKRERZY B EE

MREEERRAGEMBANRMIIZED
REBEEMREE

ARBROTIREKR - BEFNRE
110,017,000 7T ( = & — — 4 : 218,305,000
BT)RKE-—BEZFHREEREERSE
FIEERR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2012, the amount due from a customer
for contract work of HK$110,017,000 (2011:
HK$218,305,000) comprised of only one customer, Mr.
Yeung Ngo, who was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 28 March 2011. The Group assess the
financial strength and ability for repayment of Mr. Yeung
by reviewing the value of his major assets. In the opinion
of the directors, based on the value of Mr. Yeung Ngo’s
assets and the close business and working relationship
with Mr. Yeung Ngo, the risk of non-recoverability of the
amount due is minimal.

Impairment loss on loan receivable of HK$5,000,000 was
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2012 (2011:
HK$nil) because the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the amount is not to be recoverable due to
the financial difficulties of the debtor.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds deposited with a few major banks. However, the
credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with good reputation.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

Listed warrants issued by the Company are not included
in the liquidity risk analysis as they do not have cash flow
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The tables include both interest
and principal cash flows.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMIHE®
Financial risk management objectives and policies SREMREEEZERBER(8)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBELER (F)
The Group N
At 31 March 2012 R-B-——-F=H=+—H

Weighted

average  Ondemand Total Total
effective or within 210 Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 5 years 5years  cash flows amount

¥ BERY, ARRE
BRAZ —£R “Enf EFNME REAE akmE
% HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR AR AR TER TiEn

Non-derivative FTESRER
financial liabilities
Trade payables R — 577 - - 577 577
Other payables and Hin MR R e ER
accruals - 7,265 — — 7,265 7,265
Amount due to a director EN—%EZHB 2,130 - — 2,130 2,130
Convertible notes RRRE 145 - 40,742 - 40,742 23,577
9,972 40,742 — 50,714 33,549
At 31 March 2011 R—E—F=A=+—H
Weighted
average  Ondemand Total Total
effective or within 210 Over  undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 5 years 5years cash flows amount
MEFS RESHK
B F 2 —ER “ERF hERE BEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT TEL BT THL
Non-derivative FiiESREE
financial liabilities
Other payables and bR RE B R
accruals — 5,396 — — 5,39 5,396
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMIHE#®
Financial risk management objectives and policies SRR EREEERBUR (&)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBEL R (E)
The Company P /N
At 31 March 2012 R-B—-F=A=+—H

Weighted
average  Ondemand Total Total
effective or within 210 Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 5 years 5years  cash flows amount

E¥ RS KRR

BBRNZ —£R “Enf BFNME REAE akaE
% HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TER AR AR TiER

Non-derivative FTESRER
financial liabilities
Other payables and HtENZUE R e ER
accruals - 3,221 - - 3,221 3,221
Convertible notes HREE 145 - 40,742 — 40,742 23,577
Amounts due to subsidiaries  JENHIEA RIZIE - 7,006 - - 7,006 7,006
10,227 40,742 — 50,969 33,804
At 31 March 2011 RZE——F=A=+—H
Weighted
average  Ondemand Total
effective or within 210 Over  undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 5 years 5 years cash flows amount
EH3 REL KBRS
G *—ER “ERE REMNE mEBE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T BT AL THIL
Non-derivative FiiESREE
financial liabilities
Other payables and EthEMTERE R
accruals — 1,818 — — 1,818 1,818
Amounts due to subsidiaries  FERFIE A IFUE = 7426 = = 7,426 7,426

9,244 = = 9,244 9,244

Annual Report 2012 3 91



=8 MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Fair values of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

(iy the fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded in active markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices and ask
prices respectively.

(i)  The fair values of derivative instruments are
calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices
are not available, a discounted cash flow analysis is
performed using the applicable yield curve for the
duration of the instruments for non-optional
derivatives, and option pricing models for optional
derivatives.

(iii)  The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurement recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value are grouped into Levels 1 to 3
based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

° Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities;

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices); and

eI E%E)
SRIEEEEZERBER (&)

SETANANERE
CRMEERSREBENARBEERUATIRE
E -

(i) mﬁﬁﬁﬁ&%ﬁﬁa&#%%m@m
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ENDH2EREMBEANE HESE

F o

(i) PTEIEZAARBETIARETE - iy
REEMSERAER - AISEMEITAETA
AT EEA 2 Fa a7 I IR
SmESN - MAERITET AR AR
EEEAETHRBRS RN

(iy HteREERSBMBENATEEER
NREBEL - M%ﬁﬁ%m%ﬁﬁ%
% o

EERRNEE VMR ABHRALERNE
REEERABNREEREAEERE -

REEB BN AR ER A BEAE

TREHRRERERREZANEBEFENDH
TEADH ERBEAABENABREES B

—EZE-

F-EAnRBEFENEBHREERE
BERERMIZHRE CRAR)

s F_EAREBEFAENRF-EMER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Fair value measurement recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Continued)

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

The Group’s held-for-trading investments are classified
as Level 1 fair value measurement based on the above
classification as at 31 March 2012 and 2011.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The directors of the Company, being the chief operating
decision makers (“CODM”), make the decision of
resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on the Group’s profit for the year
based on the following operating segments:

Photovoltaic business ~ —  Development and manufacturing of
solar cells, modules and panels for
generating solar electric power,
establishment of solar electric
power generation plant and related
training and consulting services

Strategic investments ~ —  Participation in primary and secondary
securities market

The organisation of the Group is also based on the above
two segments. Further, the CODM does not review
segment assets and liabilities. Accordingly, no segment
analysis is presented other than entity-wide disclosures.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating and reportable segments.

2012

REVENUE
Revenue

RESULTS
Segment results

Other income, gains and losses
Share of results of associates
Unallocated corporate expenses
Finance costs

Loss before taxation

2011

REVENUE
Revenue

RESULTS
Segment results

Other income, gains and losses
Share of results of associates
Unallocated corporate expenses
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Loss before taxation

L'ON
L'ON

£

D EPEAE

HUA ~ Weas Mg 1R
DIRBE N B
ADBEERM
BERA

B LA B 1R

LN
WA

£

paR=iE S

HAUWA ~ Yas 2 B8R

DIEBEREIEE

ADBEHEF
HEM B RM RS
B i Bl 5 18

Note: The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment
results represent the profit or loss earned by each segment without
allocation of other income, gains and losses, finance costs and
unallocated central administration cost. This is the measure
reported to the directors for the purpose of resource allocation and

performance assessments.

2 EER ()
AT AA S BIZER KA 2H/HHEH 2 WA
REEDW -

—E——F
Photovoltaic Strategic
business investment Consolidated
FRER REEHERE o=y
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET F#& T
315,686 — 315,686
(230,340) (4,787) (235,127)
741
(1,254)
(31,318)
(2,878)
(269,836)
—T——%F

Photovoltaic
business

HRE

Strategic
investment Consolidated
RIS A
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET

HK$'000
THTT

174,418 = 174,418

(92,079) (859) (92,938)

14

(265)

(114,769)
15,552

(192,406)

Mzt - FI2MOD AR BOREM F3P AN AEE B
BERIER - D EPRBEIE R D BERDEEMKA - |
wmREE  BBERARKRDERRITRAXOER T
SRS RO A KEIE o I RETERD B RFHE 1R
RAMAEEZ2HOTA -
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DHERE)
Other segment information Hith o Zh & H
Amounts included in the measure of segment results or FESBEEN DI EED T AT S5

segment assets:

Photovoltaic business Strategic investments Segment total Unallocated Total
KRR REHRE ARET AR &zt
2012 2011 2012 2012 2011 2012 2012

“9-2f F—4 -9-2f ¥4 C¥-2f “FF Z%-F 3% --%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
7 BT TAR BT AR TR TAR AT FER

Net loss on financial LRIANEEFE

instruments - — (4,787) (859) (4,787) (859) - — (4,787) (859)
Depreciation of property,  #1% * BR R

plantandequipment  BEFE (11,428) (33) = — (11428) (33) (243) (174 (11,671) (207)
Amortisation of prepaid TR &/ k5

lease payments (1,169) — - — (1,169) — - — (1,169) —
Amortisation of intangible /& E RS

assets (14,058) (14,058) - — (14,058) (14,058) - — (14,058) (14,058)
Impairment loss on loan R EFRERE

receivable - — - — - — (5,000) — (5,000) —

Impairment loss on AHEHERE
available-for-sale AERE

investments - — - — - — (15,038) — (15,038) —
Impairment loss on BERERR
qoodwil (145,325) = = — (145325 = = —  (145325) =
Impairment loss on BRAEREER
intangible assets (49,400) — - — (49,400) — - — (49,400) —
Additions to non-current  JEREEERE
assels 32,268 446 = — 32268 446 1,136 9 33,404 537
Revenue from major services FERBERA
2012 2011
—E——F —ET——F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Manufacturing of production lines for BE KGRI EIREELR
solar panels 315,686 174,418
Information about a major customer FERFEHR
Revenues from manufacturing of production lines for solar REKRGHEEEREEFNBRAZERE —%
panels were substantially derived from a PRC customer. FREEF BMEE—ET——F=A=+—HLt
Since the year ended 31 March 2011, the contract was FER WEHNEERT HARAEST 4
transferred to a director of the Company, the details of RARFIE AT 2 KT L 43(d) °

which can be referred to note 43(d).

The major customer is principally engaged in the ZEERPTERELEAGEIEER - KRB
production of solar panels and the revenue from the BEPHWMAB S ARKREBH S -

customers is included within the business segment of
photovoltaic business.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information
The Group’s revenue arises from the PRC.

As at 31 March 2012 non-current assets of HK$1,021,000
(2011: HK$160,000), HK$580,000 (2011: HK$64,000) and
HK$240,568,000 (2011: HK$nil) were located in Hong
Kong, the USA and the PRC respectively. Goodwill of
HK$nil (2011: HK$36,592,000) and HK$329,435,000
(2011: HK$nil) arose from the acquisition of a US
incorporated subsidiary and PRC incorporated
subsidiaries respectively, and the intangible assets of
HK$4,485,000 (2011: HK$67,943,000) represent
photovoltaic technology patents registered in the US
which can be applied for projects on worldwide basis.

Note: Non-current assets above excluded those relating to interests in
associates, available-for-sale investments, loan receivable and
long-term prepayment.

REVENUE 8.

Long-term service contract of photovoltaic HREBERHARBE L
business
OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 9.

Bank interest income SRITHEHA
Government grant income B/l A
Consultancy service income B 1 AR A LA

Net exchange gain/(loss) BE 5 ez (B51R) %8R

DEBE R (#)

i & R

NEBHWAKEGHE o
R-ZE——F=A=+—H " 1,021,000/& T
(=—Z——4 :160,0008 7T ) * 580,0007% 7T

(ZZ——4 : 64,000/8 7T ) } 240,568,000 %5
T(ZE——F : TEL)MERBEED RN
RES  ERRTEHE - WE—MREEEMMAK
A B A F R ZER R BRI A B A
AIFTEANBEESNASATL(ZZ——F:
36,592,0007% 7T ) }329,435000/8 (= &
——F: TEIL) M448500F (==&
——4F : 67,943,000/8 L) WEFEEL AR
FE M A] FE AR 2 BRI B M AT R o

Mzt - L3ERBEETBEENBE AR ZER - A
ERE - BUERRRIBNRREENERDEE

A
2012 2011
—g--% -T——%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
315,686 174,418
HA - Rz REE
2012 2011
=E——F —ET——%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FATT
3 71
692 —
— 384
46 (441)
741 14
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2011
—EF——F
HK$'000
T

859

2011
—F——F
HK$'000
FH&TT

10. LOSS ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 10. €@ T ABIE
2012
—E——fF
HK$’000
FTER
Change in fair value of held-for-trading BEEBERENAABEES
investments 4,787
11. FINANCE COSTS 11. BERR
2012
—E——fF
HK$’000
FTER
Imputed interest on convertible notes AR EBRA M E S 2,878
12. TAXATION 12. B\
2012
—_E—_F
HK$’000
FTER
Current tax: BNEATRIA -
Hong Kong Profits Tax (i) EENEH() —
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (ii) FR B 1b 3£ TS AR (if) —
Other jurisdictions (iv) HAb RUEEE R (iv) —
Deferred tax: RIETIA
Tax credit (v) FIEHE % (v) 475

2011
—EF——F

HK$'000
TAT

475
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12. TAXATION (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits for both years. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made
for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011 as the
Group’s operations in Hong Kong had no
assessable profits.

PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise
Income Tax at 25% for the year ended 31 March
2012.

The PRC value-added tax

The Group is subject to the PRC value-added tax
(“VAT") at 17% of revenue from sale of goods in the
PRC. Input VAT paid on purchases can be used to
offset output VAT levied on sales to determine the
net VAT recoverable/payable.

No provision for taxation in other jurisdictions was
made in the consolidated financial statements for
the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011 as the
Group’s operations outside Hong Kong had no
assessable profits.

The tax credit represents deferred tax credit of
convertible notes for the year ended 31 March 2012
(note 36).

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before taxation per the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as follows:

12. BIE (&)

U]

(ii)

(iii)

BB RSB A M EFZ N R
M2 16.5% M B Rt H o AR AKER
BERANEBARELBRBEN - 8
ARBE-_T——_FR-_F——F=7
=S+ BIEFENEERISBIELER -

TEMBEARNBEE-_ZT-——_F=A
=t—BLEFEHAMMN25%NHER
EFBH

o 4 1 Bt

AEBEEFERENHEERMEKRER
BAT% B BB E ([SRER ) © &
Hr g E RN IR ETFEE - REBE
AN HYE TR IR E A R E K 8 R B R
Wz SETRIR(E R

HRAEERBERIAIMEE S EBI R
EERRPEN  AUBE—_FT——4%F
RZZT——F=RA=+—HILFENHF
EUBHRRL KRB EMADEEE RO
IR -

HEEeEHE T ——F=A=+—
B 14 [ AT AR ZE i AR A R TR 3K S (FfT
5£36) °

FARIEX H RS 2 ERAR AR A &R
MR

Loss before taxation

Taxation at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of
16.5% (2011: 16.5%)

Tax effect of share of results of associates

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses

Tax effect of non-taxable income

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
operating in other jurisdictions

Tax effect of tax losses utilised

BB Al 5 18

BREBMEHE16.5%
(ZZ——%F : 16.5%)

SHE A
EIRE A N R s B G E
TAIHRB S 2 FAE &
IERERMBMAZ RIGE
FERNRIEBERZ RIS E
REMAEAEEREELEER
ZHBRBTRIRR 2 2
BERABREERZHETE

Tax effect of recognised temporary differences O HERE =& 2 RS 2E

Tax credit for the year
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FARERR

2011

—F——F

HK$'000

F&7T

(269,836) (192,406)
(44,523) (31,747)
207 44
52,634 21,714
(10,227) (2,582)
3,745 12,571
(1,652) —
(184) —
475 —
475 —
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12. TAXATION (Continued) 12. BE#®)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has REE R - A& E T EHAR R F A E R
estimated unused tax losses and deductible temporary BRAMBEERATNBREREZEENA
differences of approximately HK$254,087,000 (2011: 254,087,000/8 7t ( =& — — 4 : 236,172,000
HK$236,172,000) and HK$148,678,000 (2011: 7T ) & 148,678,000 ju( = T — — F ¢
HK$145,800,000) respectively available for offset against 145,800,000 7T) ° AJ MR EREZZF ZHRK
future profits. The deductible temporary differences were EFERERRERBETY - AR KREET
mainly arisen from the allowance for obsolete inventories AR A AOR - B0 SR b S A A S 48 AR IR
and allowance for bad and doubtful debts. No deferred LEBIEEE - BgE B ERA A -

taxation asset has been recognised in respect of these
tax losses due to unpredictability of future profit streams.
The tax losses may carry forward indefinitely.

13. LOSS FROM OPERATIONS 13. KEFEE
Loss from operations is stated at after charging: EBEEHBRATEIA
2012 2011
=E——F —T——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Depreciation e
— Owned assets — BHEE 404 207
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense TR 58 = MFZ &AL A 300,754 165,000
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments TEASH R E A~ FE 5 1,169 —
Amortisation of intangible assets S 14,058 14,058
Allowance for obsolete inventories PREGFEEE 3,777 —
Bad debts written off 22 BRI 4 — 684
Auditors’ remuneration Z AN &
—fee — BB 1,300 1,600
— other service — H b RTS — 400
Operating lease rentals in respect of WMAEYFENLLHERS
office premises 3,387 2,325
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEYE - BEMRENER
equipment 137 —
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14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 14. EEM<
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 12 (2011: BNREN T (ZF——F: + () E
12) directors were as follows: EHMEHRIIAT
For the year ended 31 March 2012 BE-Z-——-—H=fA=+—HLFE

Chan
Wai Tam  OnKien
Kwong Pierre Choi Yin  KamBiu Ouoc Yang Choy Chong Fan Total
Peter Seligman ShekChau TatMan  William Ken Ngo  Yuchun JinYan  TakHo ChiWah Chuan 2012
On Kien
Pierre Ouoc @it
BRAX Seligman  H&EN 2 REX  ERE Ken nE  IRE &K BET R ®)| =8-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TEx TEx TEx FEx TExr TRz FEx TEx TEx TEx TEx @ TEn  TEzn
(Note f) (Note a) (Notec) (Notec) (Notec) (Notec) (Noted) (Notee)
(Kratf) (Krzta) (Brte)  (Mie) (Bate) (Bfde) (HEd)  (KBie)

Fees e - - 120 103 20 - - - - 120 99 28 490
Other emoluments ~ Eftifi4
Salaries and other ~ EH& R

benefits Hth i 650 1,630 - - - 20 2,181 859 859 = = = 6,599
Share-based BRI 2

payment 53

expenses - - - - - - - - - — - - —

Contributions to BANER
retirement benefits  HEIfR

scheme 12 12 - - - - 12 - - - - - 36
Total emoluments #4258 662 1642 120 103 2 20 2193 859 859 120 9 % 7,125
For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE_T——F=A=1+—HLFE

Tam  OnKien Henry
Pierre Choi Yin  KamBiu Ouoc John Yeung Yang Choy Chong
Seligman  Shek Chau  Tat Man William Ken  Behuke lll Ngo  Yuchun Jin Yan TakHo  ChiWah
On Kien Henry

Pierre Ouoc John
Seligman Ken Behuke lll e W& o o) A
HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$O000 HK$'000
AT THT T FiEn e BT BT : AT AT T
(Note a) (Noteb) ~ (Notec)  (Notec (Note ¢)

i7b)

R e - = 120 80 240 — - = = 1 1 442
Other emoluments ~ Effif4

Salaries and other %4 &

benefis 2478 650 1060 — — - e 8 8 g - =
Share-based WA 2

payment 53

expenses 844 — — 109 = = — - - - - 953
Contributions to RINER]

retirement benefits 3l

scheme 12 12 - = — — — — — - - — 24
Total emoluments it 1,506 1,072 120 189 240 972 889 8 8 8 1 1 5014
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14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 14. EEM< @)

Notes: Bt

(a)  Mr. Tam Kam Biu William resigned on 5 May 2011. (a) BIRREER_T——FHAABRME -

(o)  Mr. Henry John Behnke Ill resigned on 28 March 2011. (b) Henry John Behnke Il e AR =2 ——F=A=+/\

HEBHE -

(c) Mr. Yeung Ngo, Mr. Yang Yuchun, Ms. Jin Yan and Mr. Choy Tak (c) MAzE - IRELE  @REZLTREFEALERZ
Ho were appointed on 28 March 2011. T——F=-f -+ \BEZXT-

(d)  Mr. Chong Chi Wah was appointed on 28 March 2011 and (d) HEBEEEN-_T——F=AZ+/\BEZELR=
resigned on 6 January 2012. T—_F—HA/NHEME-

(e) Mr. Fan Chuan was appointed on 6 January 2012. (e) B EERZT——F— A NAEZE-

(f) Mr. Chan Wai Kwong Peter resigned on 30 April 2012. () BRAXEENR-_Z——FHNA=+HEHE -

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the RREFEA - AEEGEERESIE

Group to any of the directors as an inducement to join or RMAREE N RB S ERRBHEENHE -

upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of RWEEEA - BIEESENEEMAME -

office. None of the directors has waived any emoluments
during both years.

15. STAFF COSTS 15. BIRA

2012 2011
—F--F —T—F

HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi85 T

Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) B THKA(BIEEEHE)

are analysed as follows: BT -

Salaries, allowances and benefits e ERREF 15,492 8,533
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIRFTEIE SR 587 306
Share-based payment expenses AR 22 R = 11,846

16,079 20,685
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15. STAFF COSTS (Continued)

Of the five highest paid individuals in the Group, four
(2011: three) were directors of the Company whose
emoluments are included in note 14. The emoluments of
the remaining one (2011: remaining two) highest paid
individuals were as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits
Retirement benefits scheme contributions
Share-based payment expenses

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

15.

BN - AL RAER
RIRAE I IR
PARBR 9 32 A 2 F S2

BTHA(#)
AEBRUEEMEALTZRARML(ZT
——F: =) RARRES HMEEHER
MizE14 - Ep (I (ZT——F : EBWM) &
BHEALOMEMT

2012 2011
—E—_—F —ET——45F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET
1,390 815

12 16

— 9,343

1,402 10,174

MesmEMT

HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000
HK$5,000,001-HK$5,500,000

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

1,000,001 7 7L ZE 1,500,000 7T 1 —
5,000,001 ;&7 % 5,500,000/ 7T = 2

RMEFE  AREHERNAUSSME AL

PEEM A L AERIMARSE B R SR S tE
REERAEENME -
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16. LOSS PER SHARE 16. BRE#E
From continuing and discontinued operations REFEQSEEBNE R LKL
The calculation of the basic loss per share from RATREEERBIFELEEBNDLLEL
continuing and discontinued operations attributable to the EEB 2 BREREETIREATEEE

owners of the Company is based on the following data:

2012 2011
—B-=-F —F—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Loss for the purpose of the basic loss AN EBREREIE B
per share 247,443 197,104

Number of shares
ignig 4E|
2012 2011
=F—-F —F—F
’000 '000
TR TR

Number of shares for the purpose of the basic FLAGTEFRERNEEZ

loss per share R4 11,352,173 7,214,524
From continuing operations REFFEREER
The calculation of the basic loss per share from RRAFRREGREFELE T 2 BREK
continuing operations attributable to the owners of the R TIRIEA T EUREE

Company is based on the following data:

2012 2011
—B——F —ET——F

HK$°000 HK$'000
R TAT

Loss for the year attributable to the owners KRR R ERFEREE

of the Company 247,443 197,104

Less: Loss for the year from discontinued B REBRIEREER 2
operations FEEE = (6,414)

Loss for the purpose of the basic loss RAURTEREBELSEER 2

per share from continuing operations FRAAREENEER 247,443 190,690
The denominators used are the same as those detailed BT EREFELE EBMB R EEBR
above for the basic loss per share from continuing and FREREBEMES - MASTEEXEFlERE
discontinued operations. [ e
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16. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued) 16. BREE®)
From discontinued operations RECKRIEREER
The calculation of the basic loss per share from AAFIRREMREERIELEEEL 2 FRE
discontinued operations attributable to the owners of the REBTIREA T EURATE

Company is based on the following data:

2012 2011
—E—_—fF —ET——%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Loss for the year from discontinued operations 8 B 48 |F 48 & 2 7& > FEE 518 — 6,414
Basic loss per share from discontinued RESRIEEER 2 HK0.09 cent
operations FREREE — AL
The denominators used are the same as those detailed A EREFECEEBNE R EEEEBD
above for the basic loss per share from continuing and BREAREBEEMES - TASE EXEFEE
discontinued operations. [ -
Diluted loss per share BR#EEE
Diluted loss per share for both continuing and A TR A B1HY [ R AT A R AR B A B AR
discontinued operations are the same as the basic loss ERWMBARNERESERBRE_T——F
per share presented, as the exercise of the Company’s ER=ZFE——F=A=1T—HILFENTRESE
outstanding warrants and share options as well as the WL BB EEBNERECEERNT
subsidiary’s share options would result in a decrease in AR B 18 BT 25| M B AR E AN S8 AER) o
loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2012 and
2011.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. 1% - BERREE
Furniture,
fixtures and
Plant and Motor office
Buildings machinery vehicles equipment
B £BR
T R RE  BAERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT THx THT
Cost: 2%
At 1 April 2010 RZZE-TFNA—A = = = 1,956 1,956
Additions NG — — — 537 537
Disposals HE = = = (89) (83)
Disposed on disposal of subsidiaries REENBARRLE = — — (1,212) (1,212)
At 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 RZE——F=A=1+—-H8R
—T——FMmA-A = = — 1,228 1,228
Additions NE — 3,634 634 1,242 5,510
Additions through acquisition BB B B N A4 18 on (A2 38)

of subsidiaries (note 38) 7,826 99,572 176 126 107,700
Transferred from construction-in-progress  fi7E 2 T2 85 (5 19)

(note 19) — 1,524 — — 1,524
Disposals HE — (45) — (807) (852)
Exchange realignment JE A 265 3,700 17 6 3,988
At 31 March 2012 RZE——F=R=1+-H 8,091 108,385 827 1,795 119,098
Accumulated depreciation and ZiHE

impairment: RHE :

At 1 April 2010 RZZ-ZTFMA—A = = — 1,626 1,626
Charge for the year ERTH — — — 207 207
Disposals HE — — — (53) (53)
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries REENB R RIS — — — (776) (776)
At 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 RZE——F=A=+—-HRK

—T——FMmA-A = = = 1,004 1,004
Charge for the year FAXH 293 10,974 115 289 11,671
Disposals dE = (4) = (711) (715)
Exchange realignment R AE 20 610 11 3 644
At 31 March 2012 RZF——F=R=+—-H 313 11,580 126 585 12,604
Net book value: BREHE
At 31 March 2012 R-E-—F=A=t-H 7,778 96,805 701 1,210 106,494
At 31 March 2011 RZF——&=fA=1—-H = = = 224 224
During the year ended 31 March 2012, depreciation REBE-—E——F=A=+—HILEEF E
expenses of approximately HK$3,414,000 and B9 493.414,000 3% 7T % 7,853,000 8 7T 5 Bl 5
HK$7,853,000 were attributable to the cost of inventories GFERERETIREKA - 14 404.000 % 7T
and construction-in-progress respectively and DREASERARDED o

approximately HK$404,000 was recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 18. EFHHEMNR
2012
—E—_F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Cost A
At the beginning of the year FYeHE s —
Additions through acquisitions of subsidiaries 3% 18 Y B Kt B X T1E AN (H1:£ 38)

(note 38) 52,945 =
Exchange realignment PE W 1,758 —
At the end of the year FIReHE 54,703 =
Accumulated amortisation S £
At the beginning of the year FYe = —
Amortisation during the year F N 1,169 —
Exchange realignment M 5 SR E 97 =
At the end of the year FiReTE 1,266 —
Carrying value IREE
At the end of the year FiReHE 53,437 —

2012 2011
—EB--F —F—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx T
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BREB MO :
Non-current assets EMENEE 52,258 —
Current assets MENEE 1,179 —
53,437 —
Note: The prepaid lease payments represented a pledged medium term Mzt - ENBEENRETRERN—IBHEHA0FHNE K
lease land in the PRC with a lease period of 50 years. R HAFR S i o
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19. CONSTRUCTION-IN-PROGRESS 19. EEIRE
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2010, 31 March 2011 and R-ZE—ZTFWMA—H  —T——F=A=+—H

1 April 2011 ;kZZT——%mMHA—H —
Addition through acquisitions of subsidiaries 1% 3@ U BB B B 2 5112 12 0 (K12 38)

(note 38) 55,079
Transferred to property, plant and equipment B ZE Y% - BRE Rk (F1717)

(note 17) (1,524)
Additions =0 27,894
Exchange realignment e H AR 1,968
At 31 March 2012 N-—EBE——_—HF=HA=+—H 83,417

2012 2011
—E-C-F =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Analysis of construction-in-progress FEEIELSWMT :

as follows:

Construction cost of buildings R EER A 83,233 —
Cost of plant and machinery R 5 K2 M A i AN 184 —

83,417 =
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BEEE
Intellectual
property rights
HK$'000
FHTT
Cost R AR

At 1 April 2010, 31 March 2011 RZZ—ZFMA—H ZF——%F

and 31 March 2012 —A=+—ARZE—=-—F=RA=+—H 140,575

Accumulated amortisation and impairment  Z&H# 8 KR E{E

At 31 March 2010 RZZE—ZTF=A=+—H 58,574
Amortisation for the year GRINE: o 14,058
At 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 R-E——F=A=+—HBK

—ZT——FMmA—H 72,632
Amortisation for the year GRNE: 14,058
Impairment loss recognised during the year AEERERZBARBRE 49,400
At 31 March 2012 R-EBE——F=A=+—H 136,090
Carrying amounts FREE
At 31 March 2012 R=-B-—Z=-f=H=+—H 4,485
At 31 March 2011 RZZE——F=A=+—H 67,943
The intangible assets represent certain technologies and | BERBB Y E = WHENHE A RIRATIR
intellectual property rights related to the photovoltaic BHYREBABANE TRATMABRERE - 1%
business that were acquired on the acquisition of 10FHAIA B AR A8 -

subsidiaries from independent third parties. They are
amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 10

years.

The Group completed its impairment test by comparing REBSEB LS ERHEMITRETHER
its recoverable amount to its carrying amount as at 31 REIFTETZHE  EBRERENR_T——F
March 2012 with reference to the valuation carried out by = A=+—H 2z U B 2 EE B AR A ST AR
Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent firm of BAR HEZFT—ZF=A=+—HBLF
qualified valuer. An impairment loss of approximately € BRRBAEEE 449,400,000 T (=
HK$49,400,000 has been recognised for the year ended ——FTEL)  HRBEBEEBZARK
31 March 2012 (2011: HK$nil). The main reason for the B IR EE R RS R e TR R A BT ER -

recognition of impairment loss is the decrease in the
projected revenue from photovoltaic production line
manufacturing business.
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21. GOODWILL 21, HE
2012
—_E—_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&7T
Cost AR AR
At the beginning of the year FYeH 84,482 84,482
Additional amounts recognised from WFERNEBEE 7 ZIEEFER
business combinations occurring 2 FBINFIA (K17 38)
during the year (note 38) 438,168 —
At the end of the year FREH 522,650 84,482
Accumulated impairment Z5HRE
At the beginning of the year FYe 47,890 47,890
Impairment loss recognised during the year  FRIER 2 FEERE 145,325 —
At the end of the year FIREHR 193,215 47,890
Carrying amount BREE
At the end of the year FIReHE 329,435 36,592

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing
purposes to the following groups of cash-generating unit
("CGU"):

(i)  Photovoltaic production line manufacturing business

(i) Manufacturing of solar cells, modules and panels
business

(iii)  Solar electric power generation plant business
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21. GOODWILL (Continued) 21.

Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying
amount of goodwill was allocated to groups of CGU as
follows:

RREERELE
KFZReEM - A RIEBREE

Photovoltaic production line manufacturing

Manufacturing of solar cells, modules and
panels

Solar electric power generation plant

Photovoltaic production line manufacturing

The business related to photovoltaic production line
manufacturing has been declined by the end of 2011.
Total impairment loss of approximately HK$36,592,000
(2011: HK$nil) was recognised in respect of the goodwill
by the Company to reduce its carrying amount to its
recoverable amount.

The directors of the Company assessed the recoverable
amount of this CGU with reference to the valuation carried
out by Peak Vision Appraisal Limited as at 31 March
2012. The valuation of this CGU was based on asset-
based approach.

Impairment loss was recognised as at 31 March 2012
because the projected cash flow of this CGU is negative
and the recoverable amount of this CGU is based on the
value of assets and liabilities of the CGU.

Manufacturing of solar cells, modules and panels

The business related to manufacturing of solar cells,
modules and panels has been declined by the end of
2011. Total impairment loss of approximately
HK$81,176,000 (2011: HK$nil) was recognised in respect
of goodwill by the Company to reduce its carrying amount
to its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of this group of CGU is based
on a value in use calculation which uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by the
directors of the Company covering a 20-year period, and
a discount rate of 18.73% per annum, with reference to
the valuation carried out by Peak Vision Appraisal Limited
as at 31 March 2012. The valuation of this CGU was
based on income-based approach. A 20-year forecast is
estimated because the directors of the Company estimate
the life cycle of the manufacturing plant for solar cells,
modules and panels is 20 years.
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RERBEERN - BENEEER SRER
SELBMMR) - ERET :

2012 2011
—E—_—F —ET——45F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET
84,482 84,482
283,719 —
154,449 —
522,650 84,482

KREEGRE
REZZ——F8 RREERBEEEET
B o ARR AR AIKE S EMNREE BE
LR B E 1848584 36,592,0008 T (=&
——&F THT) °

RZZE——F=ZA=+—H8 ' ARREZEELXR
BT EAERAMEHNGBENGEZREESEL
BAUMWAKRESE WREELBNNHETD
BEEEEMEAET -

R-ZE——"F=A=+—B BRZRTEL
BUmBARSRERRE  MARALELSE
A RESREDRERSELEUNEER
BEEEHME  RtSSRESR -

KEGeEEM - AHRIESREE

NE-Z——FKR BRGREM - B RiE
BIREEBBNESR K - AAREREER
R EE R 481,176,000/ T (& ——
FTEL) UEEEEEREA KB EE -

IR & E A B AR B M AT IR Bl £ 58 AR ERT &
FREBEMET  FEREEDNREEARAQRE
ERERH T TS REREENR SR
SR RITBEERA8.73%EL - WERRE
BITLBERATN-_E——F=A=+—8#*
HEEE - RS EABUNGEDIREBERA
EMEAET - AR AR EEETABRES
oG REERAEEIRNSGRESE A -+
£ A EHRE -+ FHRTER -
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21.

GOODWILL (Continued)

Manufacturing of solar cells, modules and panels
(Continued)

Cash flow projection during the budget period are based
on the same expected gross margins and raw materials
price inflation throughout the budget period. The cash
flows have been extrapolated using a steady 3.73% per
annual growth rate which is the projected long-term
average growth rate for the business. The directors of the
Company believe that any reasonably possible change in
the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is
based would not cause the carrying amount of the group
of CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

Solar electric power generation plant

The business related to solar electric power generation
plant has been declined by the end of 2011. Total
impairment loss of approximately HK$27,557,000 (2011:
HK$nil) was recognised in respect of goodwill by the
Company to reduce its carrying amount to its recoverable
amount.

The recoverable amount of this group of CGU is
determined based on a value in use calculation which
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors of the Company covering a 20-
year period, and a discount rate of 16.95% per annum,
with reference to the valuation carried out by B.I.
Appraisals Limited as at 31 March 2012. The valuation of
this CGU was based on discounted cash flow analysis. A
20-year forecast is estimated because the directors of the
Company estimate the life cycle of the solar electric
power generation plant is 20 years.

Cash flow projection during the budget period are based
on the same expected gross margins and raw materials
price inflation throughout the budget period. The cash
flows have been extrapolated using zero growth rate
because the production capacity and the selling price of
electricity generated from the power generation plant is
controlled by the local government authority. The
directors of the Company believe that any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the
carrying amount of the group of CGU to exceed its
recoverable amount.
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RGeS - A RESREE (&)
FEEHENRSRERR R IEEETEE 8HE
WARR M TE AR ER R R RMEHE R BIRE T -
BEREATFI73%MBEE R R (AIZT
ENTEARBTEEER)ETHANGE - K
NEIEERE BETETRESBHNEEZR
RPTHENEMNESIEIREEE K reE Rt
ReEEEMARNNEERERBRLETKES
2 o

REZZT——FR HEABEESHEENE
BT - ARABIE R EERREBIBAEY
27,557,000 (=T ——F : TFL) * Ui
HEREREIKRESEE -

ZIR S E A BRI A A Y Bl 5 58 TR B (5
BEEEMEE  EREEDRBEERQR
EERAAETENNEHEERETNRS
mETER RITIRFE16.95% 1E L - WE LR
RHEEEFEBERATIR-_E——F=4
=+ —BEHAEE - WESELENNGEE
TIRBENEERESRESNETE - HRARRE
HEHABREEERNEGABA=-TF B
B BB E =+ F HRATER -

TBEME MR SR ERR IR EE AR E HRE
HRNFAEREN X KR EHERBREE - A
NEEHWHEEERENEEIEHRTHE
28 AR RERTHRTETHELE - K
AREFRE - AEFETRESENERR
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 22. REtERT2Ez

112

2012
—E—_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Cost of investment in associates, unlisted REEE AT 2 IE ETIREKA 4,115 11,435
Share of post-acquisition losses and FEMEUE R BB R EMA 2 ERA
other comprehensive income (1,519) (7,585)
2,596 3,850
Details of the Group’s associates as at 31 March 2012 RIE——FR-_T——F=A=+—HAFK%E
and 2011 are as follows: EEE A RIRFFBIT ¢

Form of Place of
business incorporation Attributable equity interest
structure and operation held by the Company Principal activities
AR K
EBRBRR  KERE NGTESZ T 3 FEXH
Directly Indirectly
=§:3 &
2012 011 2012 2011

b —E2--f —T——f

Taiwan C.S. Energy Corporation  Incorporated Taiwan — 30% — —  Investment holding
(“Taiwan CS”) Eaii Ay A (Note a)

BEERXEROHEBAR REER (Hizta)
(= :=29))

Taiwan Terra Solar Global Incorporated Taiwan — — 20% 20% Development and
Holdings Limited Ei 1174V s manufacturing of
(“Taiwan Terra Solar”) (Note b) glass used in

BERNAGRERNERAE solar products
(TaERAB D) (Fizb) g REE

REREE mFTE A
O BRIE o
Notes: HiaE -
(a) Its subsidiary is principally engaged in manufacturing of the (@) HWBAREBEREFABEED A RIZEROE
production lines for solar cells, modules and panels. EREE -
(b)  Taiwan Terra Solar was previously a wholly-owned subsidiary of (b) AERNMAGELAREEZ2EMBAR - RZF

—— & —A+A AEEBEREE R AR
T%BHEEE T B E =7 (FHI5E28KM=E40) -
RRE—H  RAERM AR 29% REEHI DR E
8/44,115,000/87C ' EARIIER —HBE AR 2
S -

the Group. On 10 January 2011, the Group disposed of its 71%
equity interest in Taiwan Terra Solar to an independent third party
(please see note 40 for details). On the same date, the fair value of
the retained interest of 29% in Taiwan Terra Solar is HK$4,115,000,
which was accounted for as interest in an associate.

CHINA SOLAR ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED A EIR#ZXEREREZERBRAE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 22. REt&ENTRZREL (&)
The summarised financial information in respect of the REFEBE N RNPBEERBMAT

Group’s associates is set out below:

2012 2011
=F—-F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHTT
Total assets BERE 5,675 14,567
Total liabilities BfERR (9,186) (2,124)
Net (liabilities)/assets (B8R EEFE (3,511) 12,443
Group’s share of net (liabilities)/assets AREERE(RRE A RR
of the associates (AR EEFE (1,018) 3,580
Revenue A 8,683 —
Loss for the year FNEE (4,323) (915)
Group's share of loss of the associates AEEREHE QRN FERER
for the year (1,254) (265)
During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group entered REBEEZZT——F=-A=1+—HLEFE A%
into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent EH-2BYE=-HI V- BEEHZE  E&X
third party relating to the disposal of all its equity interest BHEENRAEEEANDIRAEZ - HER
in Taiwan CS at nil consideration. The disposal was RZZF——F LA+ N\BEK - K& R
completed on 28 July 2011. The result of the transaction HE -

is calculated as follows:

HK$'000
TAT

Proceeds of disposal HE TS R0E _
Less: Carrying amount of the investment W RABEENRETREEATE S
in Taiwan CS at the date of loss of EHrREE

significant influence —

Gain recognised B R = —
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23. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

23. AMtHEERE

2012

—E—_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FET

Equity securities at cost: RAEH (R AGFE)

Unlisted in Hong Kong BAERIELTES 3,413 3,413
Unlisted outside Hong Kong BERERINIE LT RE S 11,625 11,625
15,038 15,038
Impairment loss on unlisted equity securities  3E_F T IR 258 55 M) Bl B B 18 (15,038) —
— 15,038

The amounts represent investments in unlisted equity
securities issued by private entities. The directors of the
Company considered that the unlisted equity securities
do not have a quoted market price in an active market
and which fair value cannot be reliably measured
because (i) the variability in the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is significant for that investment; and (ii)
the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating
the fair value. Accordingly, such unlisted equity
investments are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

The directors of the Company have determined that an
impairment of approximately HK$15,038,000 (2011:
HK$nil) was recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as the operating results of its
available-for-sale investments are not expected to
generate positive income in the future. Therefore, the
carrying amounts of available-for-sale investments have
been reduced to their recoverable amounts.

ZEBERMARRIFEITIE EMRAZESFA
B ARREFERBIF LMRAESF I EIE R
Sz TSRELEAABEEEIRNE
FRRZ()ZKENA BRI EEMGFTEEFE
RIERE) : K (ii) s #B B N H) Z B 5RO AT BE1E
TRER G A EGEAAEE - B - %
FIF EMBRARE RN ANRETREE RS -

RAARIEECHTE  ARWTEHAEHEDE
WEMKEEEBENRREHEETERA - HE
RERE 2 ERA TR AR EA 15,038,000 74
T(ZE——F : TH)  r MAHEERED
REAENEEAMBRER KB SEE -
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24. LONG-TERM PREPAYMENT 24. REIFRMNARIE
The long-term prepayment represents the rental RPBENFIEEPEIEA-—RLE T —F
prepayments of a piece of land in the PRC for 50 years FHARFRBRLTFNENEERIE -

from May 2010.

HK$'000
TAT

Cost RS

At 1 April 2010, 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 R-Z—ZFMF—H  —T——4F
—A=+—B8Bk-_Z—FWA—H =

Additions through acquisitions of subsidiaries 175 38 W B B BB R J 38 00 (faE 38)

(note 38) 8,194
Exchange realignment T 263
At 31 March 2012 RZZE——F=F=+—H 8,457
Accumulated amortisation Bty

At 1 April 2010, 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 R-Z—ZTFWMA—F - —T——F
=BA=t+—RAR-—ZE—FMA—H —

Amortisation for the year F 171
Exchange realignment HE X R
At 31 March 2012 A\_T—Z—F=A=+—H 177
Carrying amounts BREE
At 31 March 2012 R-ZB—-—§=HF=+—H 8,280
At 31 March 2011 R-_ZE——F=A=+—H —
2012 2011
—E——fF —ET——%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BIREB MO :
Non-current assets EmENEE 8,108 —
Current assets (include in deposits, mBEE Gt AKRE - EfZIE
prepayments and other receivables) K H b e N IR ) 172 —

8,280 -
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25. LOAN RECEIVABLE

The balance was interest-free, unsecured and repayable
in December 2012.

The directors of the Company have determined that an
impairment of HK$5,000,000 was recognised as at 31
March 2012 as the debtor is in financial difficulties and
the related recoverable amount was estimated to be less
than the carrying amount. Therefore, the carrying amount
of loan receivable is reduced to its recoverable amount.

26. INVENTORIES

Solar cells, modules and panels INCTEEHiR

Photovoltaic hardware and equipment

Inventories of solar cells, modules and panels are carried
at net realisable value of approximately HK$12,694,000
as at 31 March 2012.

As at 31 March 2012 and 2011, photovoltaic hardware
and equipment of approximately HK$66,728,000 was
carried at realisable value of HK$nil because the directors
of the Company conclude that it is not probable that the
inventories can be sold to other customers in the
foreseeable future.

FIRFE I R 3R

25. BERER
uHmEAGRE  mER BAR-ZT——F
‘f__ﬂ1ﬁkﬂ°

B ER AR R R G5 B AT U el & 58
BEREEE ' WARREZEEAER-Z
——F=HA=+—H#®RRE5,000,000#T °
Eitt - EREFNEEEREELATRESEE -

i
2012 2011
—g—=f =T %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FB FBT
At RIEEIR 12,694 —
12,694 =
R=B-—F=A=1—0 ABEE -

HRZEBRFERA] ﬁ@ﬁmﬁm6%om
BT ©

RZT——ER-_T——F=A=+—H 4
66,728,000 78 7T K ¢ IR AE 14 N 2R A HO AT 2 3R (B
BEATHEL REARNARESERAZERE
AITE B AR AI g dHE FHMES -
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27. AMOUNT DUE FROM A CUSTOMER FOR 27. BREFHNEI(ERIE

CONTRACT WORK

The amount of approximately HK$110,017,000 (2011: R-E——FZA=Z+—BHZHEEFHRRER
HK$218,305,000) shown on the consolidated statement ANFF25474110,017,0008 T (Z 2 ——F
of financial position as at 31 March 2012 represented the 218,305,000 7T ) 2 3B 15 5t 40 E T FE UL
amount due from a customer, Mr. Yeung Ngo, one of the —EBEP (AIARREAR —ESPHEE) D
directors of the Company, for contract work of X I8 #9220,170,000%8 m( = T — — F -
approximately HK$220,170,000 (2011: HK$218,305,000) 218,305,000/ 7T)  EFIBRRAEB X T
less prepayment of inventories paid on behalf of the ERNRBEUAREFPGETASEEZETA
Group and advances to the Group of approximately 110,153,000 8 T (=& ——F : TFx) - &
HK$110,153,000 (2011: HK$nil). The analysis of amount WEFPXEIIERBZTAT

due from a customer for contract work is as follows:

2012
—E—_fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
Contract in progress at the end of WMEMRDERITHRHEL
the reporting period:
Contract costs incurred plus recognised BEAEDNANS #ERRT
profits 950,136 634,535
Less: Progress billings B REERLRE (729,966) (416,230)
220,170 218,305
Note: The amount is expected to be recovered within 12 months from the Biat : ZACRTRES RS AR 12 A A ik E -
end of the reporting period.
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28. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 28. &% ERAREREMEWRIIE
RECEIVABLES
2012 2011
—E—_—F —ET——45F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Trade deposits e H kA 25,191 23,938
Consideration receivable FEUWRAE = 10,075
Prepayments TETRIR 65,136 —
Others Hib 57,476 16,449
Less: Provision for impairment loss B ORE RS (23,938) (23,938)
123,865 26,524
The amount is expected to be recovered within 12 months TE AL FOE K B A HRE - @ A Ak o
from the end of the reporting period.
Movement in provision for impairment loss REEERENES
2012 2011
—E—_—F —ET——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Balance at the beginning of the year FYEEH 23,938 23,938
Amounts written off as uncollectible 8 AR U Bl K & 78 — —
Balance at the end of the year FERGERR 23,938 23,938
29. HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 29. HEEERE
2012 2011
—E-—F —E——%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong AR EBEFENES LT
at fair values IR A7 % 11,453 14,500
Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong AR BETENESEIN LT
at fair values RN 35 5 1,008 3,317
12,461 17,817
Fair values are determined with reference to the quoted AREEDZEMBRMEEAEERT °

market bid prices.
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30. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

30. RERMBITHEE

2012
—E——F

HK$°000 HK$'000

Cash at bank and on hand RITRIRE

Bank balances are interest bearing at prevailing market
interest rates in Hong Kong, the PRC and the US, and the
effective interest rate of the Group’s bank balances
ranged from 0.02% to 3.42% (2011: 0.01%) per annum.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group included currencies denominated
in RMB amounted to HK$431,000 (2011: HK$1,000)
which is not freely convertible into other currencies.

Included in cash at bank and on hand are the following
significant amounts denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the Company to which they
relate:

TR TET

10,687 93,224

RITEBRTVREE  PRERERZRITHST
FiE - AEBBTES 2 EEFENTE L
%0.02% E£3.42% (ZF——% : 0.01%) °

RIFEER  AEBZIRE RIBITEBBETEN
AR BB 7 £ % 431,000 T(ZF——
F:1,00087T) ZeB I ERLBAHAM
Bk o

RITEREREBETIALR R EEEIA
SMEEEHENERESER

ushD ETT
RMB AR
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2012 2011
—B--F —FT—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
T THT
1,281 1,107
431 1
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31.

32.

33.

120

TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables FERTBRR

31. EMIRM

2012
—E—_F
HK$’000
FHR

2011
—F——F
HK$'000
FH&7T

577 —

2012 2011
—B--F —FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHIT

The following is an aged analysis of trade FENMERRAHREHAER

payables at the end of the reporting period:  BREEHATLIT -

Within 60 days 60 R 2 A 23 =
61 to 90 days 61290 H = —
91 days to 1 year NHEHE1F 551 —
Over 1 year HBiE1F 3 —
577 —

The average credit period on purchases of certain goods
is 3 months. The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid
within the credit timeframe.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Deposits received from a customer
Other payables and accrued charges

AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amount due to a director was unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

HoAth FE A R M FERT B

BEETERZTFHEEHARIMEA - A&H
EEEAERERERRE - URARDIE
NRBENMEEREMEABN -

32. HttENREREGER

2012 2011
=F—=F —FT—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FH&TT

B—R2FFPHEmziLe — 10,850
7,265 5,396

7,265 16,246

33. BN —RESENE
N —RESFRVEER  REUREER

1-%.‘- yom

iR °

CHINA SOLAR ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED A EIR#ZXEREREZERBRAE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

34. GOVERNMENT GRANT

35.

34.

BB

2012
—_E—_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx F&7T
Government grant comprised of subsidies for: BT #Bh& B LA T i BhAEAK :
Prepaid lease payments (note i) TR HER K (FaEi) 31,634 —
Manufacturing plant to produce amorphous 4 = JER LSS IR A5 B S IR 4B 14
silicon thin film solar photovoltaic modules R 2 £ E T
and related accessories (note ii) (BaEii) 84,279 =
115,913 —
Notes: HieE -
(i) A subsidiary of the Group received government subsidy of (i) AREE K E A R B B YRS A B 50 F /) + i

HK$34,896,000 in relation to the acquisition of a land use right in
the PRC for 50 years. The amount received is recognised in profit
or loss over the useful life of the land use right.

(i) The construction of the manufacturing plant has not been
completed as at 31 March 2012, therefore, the subsidy amount is
not recognised until the conditions attached have been fulfilled.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 15 April 2011, the Company issued zero-coupon
convertible notes with principal amount of HK$40,742,000
as part of the consideration for the acquisition of Stream
Fund High-Tech (note 38). Each note entitles the holder
to convert to ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion price of approximately HK$0.1242 per share.

Conversion may occur at any time between 14 March
2011 and 13 March 2016. If the notes have not been
converted, the Company will redeem the outstanding
principal amount on 13 March 2016.

The convertible notes contains two components, liability
and equity components. The equity component is
presented in equity heading “convertible notes equity
reserves”. The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 14.503%.
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{52 UK ER 34,896,000 78 TT A BR AT B © FTHRER 2 5%
BETYE L i0(E AR A F RN BT HER o

iy RZB-——FZA=T—H £ETHOERXRTREH
ARFERK » B - PAN{ERLE AR IERCAT - T B R %
Gk

AR REE

RZZT——EMA+ARBE  ARARBITALEE
£40,742,0008 02 T B AR R - (EAIK
BRE=EH 2 BHNRE(HESS) - §HEE
B FE AEFUERELNTR0.12427 T
R ARNG 2 ERE -

ERN T ——F=AF+UAE_ZT—RF
“AT=B MR ER - HERT RS
B RARARER=ZE—A"F=A+=HAEERX
EBASH -

AREREeEEmMERND - DRRRERD &
BB o Hm B D 2N RPN [ A 7R
SRERFEEIRT ARENOZERAER
14.503% °
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35. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

35. TERKREE &)

HK$'000
TAT

Proceeds of issue BITFRIS IR 40,742
Liability component at date of issue BITAEBzBEES (20,699)
Equity component HEmEb 20,043
At 1 April 2010, 31 March 2011 and RZZE—FFH™A—H -
1 April 2011 —E——%F=A=+—H
;E—F——%FWMA—H —
Liability component at date of issue BITAEB 2 BEES 20,699
Imputed interest charged TERTE HBR A E 2,878
At 31 March 2012 R-ZE——-—F=H=+—H 23,577
36. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 36. ELBEAR
AEEERRNECHEE BEREESHH

The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised by

the Group and movements thereon:

At 1 April 2010, 31 March 2011 and

RZZE-ZFMA—AH

T

Fair value
adjustment
on business
combination

Convertible

notes Total

RBEAGH
DARBEERR
HK$'000
T

TRERE
HK$'000
TAT

t
HK$'000
TAT

1 April 2011 —Z2——%=A=+—H
k=T ——FmWA—H — _ _

Acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 38) YRR 2 ] (aE 38) 5,480 — 5,480
Issue of convertible notes as consideration  Z1TR]HIRZE(E AU

for acquisitions of subsidiaries MEARMRE — 3,307 3,307
Credit to consolidated statement of SFAGAZEBRAR (i 12)

comprehensive income (note 12) — (479) (475)
At 31 March 2012 R-ZE-—-H=A=+-H 5,480 2,832 8,312
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37. SHARE CAPITAL 37. BA

Number of shares issued Share capital

ERTROHE % 2
2012 2011 2012 2011
—F—=-F T —F =B-=F T —F
’000 ‘000 HK$°000 HK$'000
T iR Tz F#ET FHIT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of BRMEEO0.01 T
HK$0.01 each EOR=E NS 100,000,000 100,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: E2#&#1TR
MR :
At the beginning of the ~ REH]
year 7,880,600 7,158,000 78,806 71,580
Issue of shares BITR G
(note i) (BtaEi) — 720,000 — 7,200
Consideration shares KRB D
(note i) (Ktazii) 4,206,738 — 42,067 —
Exercise of FTiE s AR
share options (note i) (HiaLiii) = 600 = 6
Exercise of warrant TR RIRER
subscription rights RERE
(note iii) (Ktzziii) — 2,000 — 20
At the end of the year R 12,087,338 7,880,600 120,873 78,806
Notes: Htat
(i) On 4 March 2011, the Company allotted and issued 720,000,000 (i) RZT——F=ANA ' "REIZRER0.114E T

shares by way of share subscription at HK$0.114 per share to ETRNBENFAMBLE=FRERET

(ii)

(iii)

independent third parties. These new shares rank pari passu in all
respects with the existing issued shares of the Company.

On 15 April 2011, the Group acquired 100% of equity interest of
Stream Fund High-Tech for an aggregate consideration of
HK$364,442,000, which was satisfied by the allotment and issue of
2,490,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company and issue of
convertible notes with principal value of HK$40,742,000.

On 15 August 2011, the Group acquired 100% of equity interest of
Solar Market Limited (“Solar Market”) for an aggregate
consideration of HK$154,506,000, which was satisfied by the
allotment and issue of 1,716,738,196 ordinary shares of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, a total of 600,000 and
2,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon
the exercise of share options and warrant subscription rights,
respectively.
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(ii)

(iif)

720,000,000 BRI 15 * Z FHARTES H EEAA RS
KB BT (D = A AERBAL

R-_FE——FSWA+HERA AEENERE
364,442,000 7 7T W g IR 45 = B 100% Ak A 42 2 -
405 R A B % K 21T 2,490,000,000 B AR A 7] & 5E
BREIA R BT AR £ 5875 40,742,000 S TR AT AR =% ©

RZZBE——&ENA+HA ZEENERE
154,506,000 7 7T U f& Solar Market Limited ([Solar
Market]) 100% & 75 # #5 - LA B % R % 17
1,716,738,196 RA L A1 E WA A 75 A A ©

RBE-F——F=A=1+—HALFE BABEREX
o7 S R R B 4R JE 1T 652 0 43 Il /% 3 17 600,000 % K2
2,000,000 B AXTEI B 0.01 / TT AT & 5m A ©
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High-Tech

38. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(a) Acquisitions of subsidiaries — Stream Fund

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group
had acquired 100% of the entire issued share
capital of Stream Fund High-Tech, for an aggregate

consideration of HK$364,442,000.

The carrying amounts and fair values of the assets
and liabilities acquired in the acquisition and the

goodwill arising are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Construction-in-progress
Inventories
Long term prepayment
Deposits, prepayments and
other receivables
Prepaid lease payments
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Amount due to a shareholder
Amount due to a director
Deferred tax liabilities
Government grant

Net assets acquired
Sale loan
Goodwill

Total consideration

Satisfied by:
Issue of ordinary shares
Issue of convertible notes (note 35)

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition:

Cash and cash equivalents acquired
Less: Consideration paid in cash
and cash equivalents

ER U E g
ERIR

FE
REEMNR
Ze  BNZER
H YRR
BRNEENRK

R RREEED
FEfH R

Htb e sR kg &R
e — BRI
Rt —RESFA
ELRIRAE
BB E

PRE B EFE
HEER
BE

BB

XA

38.

BITEER
BATAI R IR (MaE 35)

KREEZRERARE

BERB RS RREEEY
B ARE RREFEY

EANPANE

W B B A B
(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

WM E QR — RiE SR

BE2—_Z——F=A=+—HILFE"
AEEBEEWERSEGSEHE100% 25 E
BT - R (B & 364,442,000 7T ©

REBERDRBNEERAE ZKE
BERAREE  URAELENHENT :

Acquiree’s
carrying
amounts
before Fair value
combination  adjustments Fair value
RS A%
ANAREE AABEERE DREE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FHET THET FHET
139,462 (31,762) 107,700
55,079 — 55,079
7,189 — 7,189
167 — 167
22,351 — 22,351
34,680 18,265 52,945
407 — 407
(686) — (686)
(45,867) — (45,867)
(42,832) — (42,832)
(38) — (38)
— (5,480) (5,480)
(113,044) — (113,044)
37,891
42,832
283,719
364,442
323,700
40,742
364,442
407
407
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38. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. WHEMHE AR (&)
(@) Acquisitions of subsidiaries — Stream Fund (a) WBHWBAR — REaRH (&)

High-Tech (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs of approximately
HK$2,914,000 are included in “other operating
expenses” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

The fair value of the 2,490,000,000 consideration
shares is based on the quoted closing price of the
Company’s share of HK$0.13 at the date of
acquisition.

Goodwill arose in the business combination
because the cost of the combination included a
control premium paid to acquire Stream Fund High-
Tech. In addition, the consideration paid for the
combination effectively included amounts in relation
to the benefit of expected synergies, revenue
growth, future economic benefits arising from them
which cannot be reliably measured.

Included in the loss for the year, loss of
approximately HK$9,246,000 was attributable to
Stream Fund High-Tech and its subsidiaries
(“Stream Fund Group”) for the post-acquisition
period.

Had these business combinations been effected on
1 April 2011, the revenue of the Group would have
been approximately HK$315,686,000, and the loss
for the year would have been approximately
HK$269,361,000. The pro forma financial
information is for illustrative purposes only and is
not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of the Group that actually would have been
completed on 1 April 2011 nor is it intended to be a
projection of future profits.
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I B AR R A AN 49 2,914,000 % ST 2 5T A AR
BEERARN [HMEERS A -

2,490,000,000 R ER MBI AR EEE
ARFRRAD AU EE B BTk T ES
X013 TLERE °

EBAHELDBIHRAHKARRE
AU B IR 85 = RS T S A RO R R (B
P e O REHIXNNREER L
BREEEHRHRMENOMNE Rk
B RAR)FRIR - T B U A O R SR A B 3
EARBEF] FEHGHE ©

BRI EREHBRAR(REEE])
U B 18 BRFE PRGOS 1814 9,246,000 78 7T
Bt ARFEEEF o

MZEBAHR —_E——FmWA—B &
o AREBRR AL A 315,686,000 7%
T MANFEE B4 A 269,361,000 74
Lo ZEEMBEREHRHEBRSE T
—EEAMERER T ——FWHA—
HERK ZIBRATAEE 2 amkEE
ERAZEBUKFE 2 BE - TBERK
REL 2 TEA -
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38. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. WIBMEAR#E)

(b) Acquisitions of subsidiaries — Solar Market (b) UeEEHIE A — Solar Market
During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group HE-Z——F=A=T—HLFE"
had acquired 100% of the entire issued share 7 £ B B Uk BE Solar Market 100% B, 77
capital of Solar Market, for an aggregate A& - (B & 154,506,000 7T

consideration of HK$154,506,000.

The carrying amounts and fair values of the assets REEEERRENEERABEBZEREE
and liabilities acquired in the acquisition and the BERAAREE  ARFIEEMEENT :

goodwill arising are as follows:

Acquiree’s
carrying
amounts
before Fair value
combination adjustments Fair value
g5 A B
AINREE AAEERE AREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FET FET
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFSEEY 57 = 57
Net assets acquired P B =% B 57
Goodwill Bl 154,449
Total consideration BRE 154,506
Satisfied by: TRAER
Issue of ordinary shares BITERR 154,506
Net cash inflow arising BREEZRERAFE:
on acquisition:
Cash and cash equivalents BBz RERFSEEY
acquired 57
Less: Consideration paid in cash W MReRReEEY
and cash equivalents TRHZRE -
57
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38. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. WIBHIE AR (&)
(b) Acquisitions of subsidiaries — Solar Market (b) UxBEH{E A B— Solar Market (4)

(Continued)

Acquisition-related costs of approximately
HK$267,000 are included in “other operating
expenses” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

The fair value of the consideration shares is based
on the quoted closing price of the Company’s share
of HK$0.09 at the date of acquisition and
1,716,738,196 shares.

Goodwill arose in the business combination
because the cost of the combination included a
control premium paid to acquire Solar Market. In
addition, the consideration paid for the combination
effectively included amounts in relation to the
benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth,
future economic benefits arising from them cannot
be reliably measured.

There is no profit or loss attributable to Solar Market
and its subsidiaries (“Solar Market Group”) for the
post-acquisition period.

Had these business combinations been effected on
1 April 2011, the revenue of the Group would have
been approximately HK$315,686,000, and the loss
for the year would have been approximately
HK$269,361,000. The pro forma financial
information is for illustrative purposes only and is
not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of the Group that actually would have been
completed on 1 April 2011 nor is it intended to be a
projection of future profits.
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Wi B8 A8 B pX N 49 267,000 7T B 5T A AR
BEERARN [EMEER A -

REBRG AR EBERARD T RD A
8% B HAFT 3R A0 UL T 18 0.09 78 7T A B A% 1
#EA&1,716,738,196 [k MEE °

EBAHELEREHRAHKRARIE
#t U B Solar Market M 32 15 #9322 41 4 %
BATE - WA AN HHREER
FERERERHEREENFE - dkzsi
KA BRI ZRIE M E b E £ f R R
MR B SEHETE o

Solar Market & E[T/E@ 2 F([ Solar Market
£ ) AUREE R IR I S e (8 ES -

MZEBAHR —_E——FmWA—B4&E
B AREBER AL A 315,686,00078
T MANFEE B4 A 269,361,000 7%
Lo BEVBEREEHEBRASZ  RH4
ANEBAHR-_E——FmWA—BE
AR B EBNERRAREEEZ
IR RER 2w FI R FEOR
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39. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 39.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group entered
into sale agreements to dispose of two subsidiaries, D&M
Financial Limited (“D&M”) and REXCAPITAL (Hong Kong)
Limited (“REXCAPITAL HK”) which were engaged in
capital market activities (provision of capital market
advisory services previously included in the strategic
investment segment) and financing activities (provision of
commercial and personal loans previously shown as a
separate financing segment). The disposals were
effected in order to generate cash flows for the expansion
of the Group’s other businesses. The disposals were
completed on 30 September 2010 and 3 January 2011
respectively, on which dates control of D&M and
REXCAPITAL HK were passed to the acquirers.

ERIEREER
REBEE-_T——F=—A=+—HILtFEE K&
By HERE  HEMRMBAR - BID&M
Financial Limited ([D&M ) F#ZEFLE (Fi)
BRAR(HRRBE]) EMRAAREER
T5EE) (R E RIS E RS (SR MAK
BEMEIRE S 80)) Fgh & VS By (IR AL pg ZE AN A
ERCERIABLHREDE)) o HEFE
EEAMBRASEEMEKEAERSRE o I
EEZHEEORIN - E—ZEFNA=ZFHEM_Z
——&F— A= H5K - D&M MR E H 124
EERZBE TR -

2012
—E——F

2011
—F——F
HK$'000
FH&7T

HK$°000
FERT

Loss for the year from discontinued operations & B B 4% || 48 & ¥ 7% 7 [ 518

— Capital market activities — BARMIZEE = 1,635
— Financing activities — BEER = 5,614
Loss/(gain) on disposal of operations of HENUTREEBELR
B8, (W)
— Capital market activities (see note 40) — BAMISEE (A ME40) — 825
— Financing activities (see note 40) — BEES) (ANt 40) — (1,660)
— 6,414
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39. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 39. BEARILEREEK®)
The results of the capital market and financing activities AT SHENA—AZHEZANHEA NN
for the period from 1 April 2010 to their respective dates Ml BRAMBSNREETHNEE(EMARE
of disposal, which have been included in the ZERBATR)IIT :
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, were
as follows:
Capital market activities Financing activities
BARTHIEEE RS
Year Period Year Period
ended ended ended ended
31.03.2012 03.01.2011 31.3.2012 30.09.2010
BE BE BZE BHE
—¥-=-f _—T——%F ZF-=f _"—T-ITF
=HA=+—-H —A=B ZBA=+—-H SNA=tH
+HFEE LEAAE LEE LEHARE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THT THET TAT
Revenue WA — 240 — —
Staff costs BIMA = (1,304) - (1,980)
Other expenses HupAx — (571) — (3,634)
Loss before taxation B AT E B — (1,635) — (5,614)
Taxation i1 — — — —
Loss for the year FREE — (1,635) = (5,614)
Loss for the year from REBRIEEER 2
discontinued operation FEBERE:

includes the follows:

Operating lease rentals KEREHS -

in respect of

— office premises —WREYE = 1,678
The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of D&M DAMAHZERMERSALERMNEERA
and REXCAPITAL HK at their respective dates of disposal BEARE AR M FE 40 K EE
are disclosed in note 40.
During the year ended 31 March 2011, D&M paid REBEEZT——F=A=+—HLFE D&M
approximately HK$28,549,000 and REXCAPITAL HK RAEENKER R FRERANEEBZATL
contributed approximately HK$42,000 in respect of the 28,549,000/87C * M FREMRAEE KL L
Group’s net operating cash flows. We M= FEARK 42,0008 7T
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40.

130

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

As referred to note 39, the Group discontinued its
operations regarding capital market and financing
activities at the time of disposal of its 85% equity interest
in D&M and its entire interest in REXCAPITAL HK to
independent third parties in the year ended 31 March
2011. Eight other subsidiaries (the “Other Subsidiaries”)
were also disposed of with REXCAPITAL HK. The
consideration for the disposal of D&M was
HK$21,000,000 and the consideration for the disposal of
REXCAPITAL HK and Other Subsidiaries was HK$1 with
assignment of shareholder’s loans of approximately
HK$990,723,000 at the time of the disposal by the Group
to the buyer as part of the consideration for the disposal.

On 10 January 2011, the Group entered into another sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third party
to dispose of its 71% equity interest in Taiwan Terra Solar
for a consideration of HK$10,075,000.

40. HEMNEAF

BN BE—T——F=ZA=+—
AIEFE  AREERABYE=FHEEE
#ID&M 85% A& AN S fHl ZR it 1 & P i 2 i
WIETHBEAT S RELFDNEL - 55
L N\KME AT ([EaHE AR ])ERE R
& —ff & - DARM A H & X & & 21,000,000
BT iR E REMHME AR L ERE
BB IR L ERAEE AN H
ERE MR E A #%4990,723,000%8 7T K %
RER -

R-ZE——F—F+8 ANEFME—LZLBIF
=R S —HEEWZ - BA10,075,0008 T
REHEEE KR KPFEE71% AR -
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40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. HEMB AT (&)
The net assets of D&M, REXCAPITAL HK, Other REEEH D&M - HZE@mE - Etki B A A
Subsidiaries and Taiwan Terra Solar at the dates of MaER KGN EEFERNT

disposal were as follows:

Taiwan
REXCAPITAL Other Terra
D&M HK Subsidiaries Solar
30 September 3 January 3January 10 January
2010 2011 2011 2011
BB
D&M HEME HOHEARE ARz 8E
—E-%f —2—-F —2—-F —2—-F
hA=tH —RA=H —A=H —A+A @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT T TR FHT
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) HEZEE/(&f8) FE
DISPOSED OF
Property, plant and equipment ME  BENLRE — — — 436 436
Other receivables HERZE 22,780 50 — 285 23,115
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRES 149 800 12 268 1,229
Tax recoverable AW E A 44 — — — 44
Trade and other payables FE RN R E o JE A 5008 (220) (25) (1,256) (989) (2,490)
Tax payable FERHE = = (118) = (118)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BfF)FE 22,753 825 (1,362) = 22216
Interest retained (Note a) REER (Hita) (3,413) - — (4,115) (7,528)
Cash consideration received BEZRERE (21,000) — — = (21,000)
Consideration receivable (Note b) EWRRE (Hzb) — = — (10,075) (10,075)
(Gain)/loss on disposal HE (W), BiE (1,660) 825 (1,362) (14,190) (16,387)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMELNRERE
R
Cash consideration received Emz RS RE 21,000
Bank balances and cash disposed of HEZRITESRES (1,229)
19,771
Notes: Mz
(@)  The retained interest of 15% in D&M is accounted for as an (@) D&M 15% a@{%\%%;ﬁaymmg@ﬁ%&é CEER
available-for-sale investment and disclosed in note 23 and the P23 T\é;%tt@t&i—%&zg%E’q{%%ﬁéé,ﬂljﬁlj)\
retained interest of 29% in Taiwan Terra Solar is accounted for as BrE AR MERHE22
interest in an associate and disclosed in note 22.
(b)  The consideration is due within 180 days from the disposal date of (o) HERERMABETI%RARENOAERLER
71% equity interest in Taiwan Terra Solar and is included as other 180K AEIE - BIIAMGL 28 TR NN =T ——

receivable as disclosed in note 28 as at 31 March 2011. F=A=1— AR EMREARS -
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40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The impact of D&M and REXCAPITAL HK on the Group’s
results and cash flows is disclosed in note 39.

The Other Subsidiaries and Taiwan Terra Solar did not
have any significant impact on the results and cash flows
of the Group for the year.

41. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments of rental
premises and rental of a piece of land under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

40.

41.

HEHB AT (#)
DAM KM EHAEBMONEERBESRE
VR ZE KT TE 3O EE o

H M AP e &AM KRG RE X R AR E
REFNRERRSREENTAMEATE

REHERH

REBEREEA

RIEHR - ARE B ERREN AT HEELEH
EREAREEMER B LORS N
RIEEEFEIBMBERMT

2012

—E——F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTER F&TT
Within one year —FRA 3,802 861
In the second to fifth year inclusive FIEFRT (BEERWMTE) 977 222
More than five years HEFUE 1,653 —
6,432 1,083

The Group does not have an option to purchase the
leased asset at the expiry of the lease period.

Operating lease payments for the year ended 31 March
2012 represent rental payable by the Group for its office
premises and a piece of land (2011: Group’s office
premises and other assets). The lease is signed an
average term of two years (2011: two years), with an
option to renew the lease and renegotiate the terms at the
expiry date. The lease does not include any contingent
rentals.

FERYENEHERSBEHEESENESR
*g o

HE_Z——F=A=+—HILFENKEH
EPREARERERAEMER —ELI(Z
T——F  ARENRPEVEREMEE)
ENMES - HEFHRPMFE(ZF——F
ME) AEETEERIBMARITHORE
HERGS HEYEBREEMRBEES -
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42. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company

On 29 July 2002, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2002 Scheme”). Under the 2002 Scheme,
the directors are authorised, at their discretion, to offer
eligible participants, being employees (whether full time
or part time), business consultants, agents, financial or
legal advisors whom the directors consider, in sole
discretion, have contributed to the Group, options to
subscribe for new shares of the Company. The directors
are authorised to determine the exercise price, such price
will not be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of
the shares as stated in the SEHK’s daily quotations on the
date of offer, which must be a business day; (b) the
average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in
the SEHK’s daily quotations for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and (c) the
nominal value of an ordinary share. There is no general
requirement that an option must be held for any minimum
period before it can be exercised but the directors are
empowered to impose at their discretion any
requirements at the time of granting any particular option.
Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee is required to
pay a consideration of HK$1.00 for each lot of share
options granted on or before the 30 days after the option
is offered.

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option will be determined by the directors at
their discretion but will not be later than 10 years after the
date of adoption of the 2002 Scheme.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
2002 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including exercised and outstanding options)
to each of the eligible participants in any 12-month period
up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares
in issue as at the date of grant.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2002
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company on the date of approval and
adoption of the 2002 Scheme provided that the Company
may at any time seek approval from its shareholders to
refresh the limit to 10% of the shares in issue as at the
date of approval by the shareholders in general meeting
where such limit is refreshed.
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42,

BABRAR 3 A4 B

EINS

RIZBZZFALR-+NAE - RARRA—
BREE (2T _F5tED) - *EHF_Q z
“HEFE EEREREVEEAREDERNG
RAUAEEEERNZBAFRES - %25

BRE - 2 BBERERSaEBRALER
HERE  ARBARAHR - ERERER
EETERE  EZERTRER : () RIHIRE

HEREAM(BWAREER) EBRIMERR
BRAFIOETE : (o) BRRLBERERLZ
ﬁl‘ﬁi{%"%EI%@EH?““Fﬁ&EIiEFi%ﬁﬁEIJE’J
FHRTE: RCO)EBRAB(AZSER
#) o WEMBRIEARABTBBRE KRR
BT AT M —RARE - HEFARERERY
EA B RN EINEM R E - RENERE
5 AR AERRHERE AR m30 A%
Z AL E IR E R B A S B 1.00/87T

RO AR REARHRG OB - fmE
BRWEE ETEERRN BT E
& AR 4 -

BIE - T ZF 5 8 RANA RMEM H b B AR
FEETENEER2EENERE(BER
TERRTEOERE) BETEMELRAT
NBETHRGAE  REZRE B HIEERA
+oEAHERN - THEZREL BHE TR
BEI1% °

FRE =TT F et 8| RA DR A A E A B
EETEIR H A BRI TE M A AEEETH
B EIE - e NSHBBA R TR L K&
RS _FHEE AN BITRAN10% - H
AR AR PMEA B R = Kﬁ&%ﬁ&i%@

ERRAAEFEFZRENRRASE B
%éﬁﬁ%’ﬁﬁ’a 10% ©
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42. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued) 42. DR NNFEEE)
The Company (Continued) KA (%)
The movement of the share options granted by the BIEZTE_Frr 8RR AR ENBREZS)
Company under the 2002 Scheme are as follows: LU

Exercise price
(Note )
b3t
Before Outstanding Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Transferred Outstanding  Cancelled Lapsed Transferred Outstanding
241, 7. Exercisable at during during during during at during during during at
Current position  Date of grant 2009 period 31.3.2010 the year the year the year theyear ~ 31.3.2011 the year the year theyear 3132012
R
ceens -8 : =
th
ZtIEH TR RERRY RERGE  REAEE R i RN
: ) . | ‘

AT

Employees 22,6.2005 0.1660 0.1390  20.7.2005-19.7.2015 1,194,000 — — — (1,194,000 — — — — —
&5 Z2T1f Z3%1F
~A-TZA tA=tRZ
“F-1%
tAThE
4.9.2007 0.5660 04740 3.10.2007-2.10.2017 22,387,500 - — — 8358000 30,745,500 —  (21,492,000) — 9,253,500
“ERtE &2 3
hARA +A=R%
3
+A=R
1342010 NA 0.1870  28.4.2010-27.4.2020 — 39,500,000 — — 3000000 42500000 — (38,500,000) 17,000,000 21,000,000
3 TER -3-%%
RAT=R MA=T/\BE
“BC%F
mA=+tA
6.1.2011 N/A 0.1414  10.1.2011-9.1.2021 — 63,500,000 = — 2000000 65500000 — (10,000,000) — 55500,000
e 3 TR 2%
—ARE -ftA%
B
—-BhA
Directors of 26.11.2004 0.0880 00740 20.12.2004-19.12.2014 27,581,400 — — — — 27581400 — — — 271,581,400
the Company ~ ~ZEM#E “RTME
FARES +-A +ZA=tRZ
—t1H —I-mE
+ZAthA
22.6.2005 0.1660 0.1390  27.6.2005-26.6.2015 1,910,400 - — — - 1,910,400 — - — 1,910,400
“FTnf “ITRF
~A=t=R ~AZTEAR
3-8
~AZtRA
1342010 N/A 0.1870  28.4.2010-27.4.2020 — 3,500,000 — — — 3,500,000 — — — 3,500,000
~2-%F @R Z3-%%
RAT=R MA=T/\BE
S 2.3
mA=+tA
6.1.2011 N/A 0.1414  10.1.2011-9.1.2021 = 5,500,000 = = = 5,500,000 = = = 5,500,000
e 3 TR F-F
—-B~R -RtRZ
3--F
—-AnA
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42. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued) 42. DRGSR SHRHE@R)
The Company (Continued) KA (%)

Exercise price

Outstanding Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Transferred Outstanding  Cancelled Lapsed Transferred Outstanding
Exercisable at during during during during at during during during at
Current position  Date of grant period 3132010 the year the year the year theyear  31.3.2011 the year the year theyear  31.3.2012

ZBRNE
th
RHAH ZtmEH TR RERRE  RERGE  RNEAEH T REREH
HKS i) ( (Note ) (Not (Note i (Note
B

Consultants 22.12.2003 0.1660 0.1340  1.1.2004-1.1.2014 19,243,705 = = = — 19,243,705 = = — 19243705
L) BT “ETNE
+zA -A-BZ
it | —E-mE
-B-H
26.11.2004 0.0880 00740  20.12.2004-19.12.2014 27,581,400 - — — — 27581400 — - — 271,581,400
—FTME “ITMF
+-A +-A=tA%
o il —3-IF
TZAthA
22.6.2005 0.1660 01300  20.7.2005-19.7.2015 118,206,000 — — — 1194000 119,400,000  (1,194,000) — — 118,206,000
= it 3 Z3%1F
~A=t=A +A=tEE
—2-1%
tAthA
4.9.2007 0.5660 04740  3.10.2007-2.10.2017 389,602,200 - - —  (8358000) 381244200  (4,776,000) - — 376,468,200
“ERLE ZERtE
hAmA +A=A%
Tt
A=A
13.4.2010 NA 0.1870  28.4.2010-27.4.2020 — 612,500,000 (600,000) (305,000,000  (3,000,000) 303,900,000 (3,000,000 — (17,000,000) 283,900,000
Z3-%% TR —F-%f
MA+=R
6.1.2011 NA 0.1414  10.1.2011-9.1.2021 — 646,500,000 — —  (2000,000) 644,500,000  (1,000,000) — — 643,500,000
3% TEm e
~BAB ~BtAE
—F=—
—-BhA
Directors and 49.2007 0.5680 04740 3.10.2007-2.10.2017 35,820,000 — — — — 35820000 —  (35820,000) — —
employees s “ETtE
ofanassociate  fLATIE +A=RZ
BENTESRER Tt
A=A
Exercisable at 643,526,605 1,371,000,000 (600,000) (305,000,000) — 1,708926,605  (9,970,000) (105,812,000) — 1,593,144,605
the end of
the year
ERRAAE
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SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)
The Company (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The exercise in full on the outstanding 1,593,144,605 (2011:
1,708,926,605) share options at 31 March 2012 would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of
1,598,144,605 (2011: 1,708,926,605) additional shares of the
Company for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of
approximately HK$363,476,069 (2011: HK$402,387,647).

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2011, 305,000,000 share options
granted to the respective consultants for introducing Guangdong
Rising Asset Management Company Limited were cancelled after
subsequent re-negotiation between the Company and the
consultants after the termination of the subscription. The fair value
of the share options cancelled previously charged to profit or loss
of HK$38,949,000 was transferred from the share option reserve to
accumulated losses upon the cancellation.

(iif) Certain consultants were employed by the Group as employees in
2012 and 2011. An employee resigned in 2011 and acted as a
consultant of the Group.

(iv) During the year ended 31 March 2012, 115,782,000 share options
were cancelled or lapsed during the year due to the termination of
services with certain consultants, directors and staff. The fair value
of the share option cancelled or lapsed previously charged to profit
or loss of approximately HK$25,963,000 was transferred from the
share option reserve to accumulated losses upon the cancellation
or lapse.

On 13 April 2010 and 6 January 2011, the Group granted
share options of 655,500,000 and 715,500,000
respectively. The estimated fair values are
HK$83,707,000 and HK$65,898,000 respectively. The
share options were vested immediately as at the date of
grant.

For the share options granted on 13 April 2010,
305,000,000 share options were cancelled during the
year ended 31 March 2011 due to the termination of
service with certain consultants. The estimated fair value
of the remaining 350,500,000 share options is
HK$44,758,000.

In respect of the share options exercised during the year
ended 31 March 2011, the weighted average share price
of the Company at the dates of exercise was HK$0.227
per share.

Details of fair values of the share options determined at
the date of grant using the Binomial model with the inputs
are as follows:

Date of grant 13 April 2010 6 January 2011
Share price per share at date of grant HK$0.187 HK$0.139
Exercise price per option HK$0.187 HK$0.1414
Option life 10 years 10 years
Expected volatility 137.96% 133.54%
Risk-free rate 2.824% 2.814%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%

42,

RO HEEE)

RRDTE) (&)

Ktz -

(i) BIEARRRITHNERRE  2HIIER =T —=
F=ZA=+—H®HAKRITEM,593,144,6051 (=F
— — % :1,708,926,6051 ) FE B # 1% 78 1 ¥
1,593,144,605 i (== ——4F : 1,708,926,605 i% ) &
ARG BeRELBEKRNBRHEAI) N A
363,476,069 7L (Z T ——4F : 402,387,647 B7T) ©

(ii) MEBE-ZT——F=-A=1+—HALLFE  RNKEILIE
% KAAREABBEENETHE  RNBER
LEEEECEERAAIMMAS A ERZE LN
305,000,000 17 BE A& # B s 4 o CATET ABSHE i
SHEE AR HEAY A 7t (B {8 38,949,000 7 7T 7 7 S5 8 i R AR
EREEEREREE -

(iy  HOEMR T —FR-_T-—FEAERERR
B8 - —REER-ZT——FHE  WETAKESN
EER o

(iv), REBEE-ZT——F=-A=-t+—HALFE HRETE
B EERIEBSMORBKIE - 115,782,00015 i ik 4
REREHRM - AT ABSENEFHRE R
BB AR A T (B 1E4) 25,963,000 7 T L8 3 ks i
HEBREFEEREE 2508 -

R-E-—ZEFMA+=AR_-_Z——F—f&
~NE - AEE DR H 655,500,000 &
715,500,000 17 B A% 1 © et AR BED B A
83,707,000 % 7t & 65,898,000 % 7t ° BERLAE R
R EBARRE -

PR —E—ZFNA+=ARENEREM
T HREETERMAORERIL EX
305,000,000 ERERBE-_E—F =4
=+ —HIEFEFH - T 350,500,000 &
IRiER) T A S (B1E A 44,758,000 8 T ©

MREE T ——F=-A=+—HI-FEET
FHBEREMS - RITE R AQ R A INEFY
% A/ 0.227 BT °

REFHBBAFA RS EROBRERAS

BEFE(M@AB) WOT

—E-TF —ZT——F
R BH mA+=H —AAH
& B SR E 01877  0.139%TT
BhERETEE 0187871 014147
EREEH 104 104
KR 137.96% 133.54%
el 2.824% 2.814%
BHREE 0% 0%
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42. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

The Company (Continued)

Expected volatility was determined by using historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the past 10
years.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the options. The variables and assumptions used
in computing fair values of the share options are based
on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option
varies with difference variables of certain subjective
assumptions.

In the current year, no share-based payment expenses
(2011: HK$149,605,000) in respect of the share options
granted has been recognised in profit or loss, out of
which HK$11,846,000 was included in staff costs and
HK$137,759,000 was included in consultancy expenses,
with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the
Group’s share option reserve in the year ended 31 March
2011. Also, upon cancellation and lapse of 115,782,000
(2011: 305,000,000) share options during the year, the
amount of HK$25,963,000 (2011: HK$38,949,000) which
has been recognised in share option reserve is
transferred to accumulated losses.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group has
granted 1,259,000,000 share options to certain
consultants, which vested immediately upon their
issuance. However, these share options were granted by
the Company without entering into formal service
agreements with these consultants. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, these share options were
granted to the consultants for rendering services to the
Group, including consultancy services in respect of
seeking potential investors to invest in the Company and
identification of potential investment opportunities in the
solar energy business. On 26 May 2010, certain
consultants successfully introduced a potential investor,
Guangdong Rising Asset Management Company Limited
to subscribe for 2,180,232,558 new shares of the
Company. Although this subscription was terminated on
26 November 2010, the directors of the Company
continue to believe that the strategy to issue share
options in return of consultancy services can bring
benefits to the Group, without damaging the Group’s
operating cash flows and liquidity.
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42. DR BERNEE R

PAYNCINE-))
BHRERBEARRBRENBE T FOHELK
TREEE °

AR HE A0 A 2 (RIS I AR - 58
WA R BEFEANEERBRDAEE
rB s AR  BREN EERE T8
BROZRBDTED -

RAFE - WS BR D ERAEm AR
ZHAX(ZZT——4 : 149,605,000 L) E 1A
1Bt HERR  Eh v 11,846,00078 Tt AE T
A+ 137,759,000 ar ABERI A - W
AEBHEE—_T——F=-A=1+—ALFEN
BEREREE D ERBEESR B It
115,782,0001% ( —Z ——£F : 305,000,00015)
BRERFEANZHEEREE  REREFE
R £ %8 25,963,000 L ( — T — —4F ¢
38,949,0008 L) &5 A RETEE o

HE-Z——F=-A=1+—HLLFE ~5H
B | % T B8 [ 5 H 1,259,000,000 15 B8 & 4 -
ZEBRENEBRITERILEE - A KA
AR NS ERER - WARRZEREMEI L
EXRHB R - NABESERE - ZFERE
DRETZEER  BRZEEMAAEERM
MR BREFRBEREEREARTRY
EXEBREREBTEABEREKSE - R
—ZEFRA=+A BETEBEXINBEE
wEE —BEREERBEELEBRAAR
XA A]2,180,232,558 % ¥ M 17 © & B It 3R
FEER_T—TE+—A -+ BRI AR
RIE SR EABITIER RS RIS AR
B IR HEARNEBMNCER S RE R
BeMBERT @« AREBEBREE -

137



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=8 MR

42,

138

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)
The Company (Continued)

The Group has determined the fair value of the share
options at the dates of grant of HK$137,759,000 and
charged the full amount to profit or loss and included as
consultancy expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. During the year ended 31 March
2011, 305,000,000 share options granted to the
respective consultants for introducing Guangdong Rising
Asset Management Company Limited were cancelled
after subsequent re-negotiation between the Company
and the consultants after the termination of the
subscription. The fair value of the share options cancelled
previously charged to profit or loss of HK$38,949,000 was
transferred from the share option reserve to accumulated
losses upon the cancellation.

Subsidiary

On 31 December 2005, TSG, a subsidiary of the Group,
implemented a share option scheme (the “2005
Scheme”). Under the 2005 Scheme, TSG's directors (the
“TSG directors”) are authorised to offer share options of
TSG to eligible participants, being directors, officers and
other employee of TSG as well as consultants of TSG and
its subsidiaries, with a vesting period from one to three
years.

The TSG directors are authorised to determine the
exercise price per share. Such price shall not be less
than (i) 110% of the fair market value per share on the
date of grant if the options are granted to employees as
defined under 2005 Scheme and at the time of grant of
the options, the employee owns more than 10% of the
voting power of all classes of shares of TSG or any parent
or subsidiary; or (ii) the fair market value per share on the
date of grant for cases other than that described in (i).

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option will be determined by the TSG directors,
but not more than 5 or 10 years from the date of grant,
depending on the situations as described in the 2005
Scheme. The options granted under the 2005 Scheme
shall be exercisable upon its having vested in
accordance with the vesting schedule and upon and after
the registration date.

42. DR AERNEHE R

VNN

AEEEEERZERL ARNBREARE
EA137,759,0008 7T * WRIBREFLI 2
HRRGEAZERARIABRRY - #E2=
T——F=-A=+—HLFE BNAERE
EREEREBRAGIME TH B EM
305,000,00017 ¥ - ER AR Al RZERE
MR IERBEENBEEENERETE - R
SN BZSBR T S S R A 7t (B E 38,949,000 7T
BRIER T2 IR IR R R E 25T EE -

BB =]

RZZEZRFT-A=1+—8  FEENHE
AR TSG B —REBREA 8 ([ —FT R &
D - RE_FTTAFFE TSGHESF
([TSGE=R]) ERERLTSGHBERETEE
R28RE - BTSGHES  SRBE REtE
8 AR TSG REKBARMER - FEHN
F-E=F-

TSGEFEERETIRRMBITERE « ()
HERENRTFRE-_STRAFAETENE
8 MARESCERERERERSBRBTSG
RET AR E R R TEERRDIEEE
10% ' BAERTHEERREHASRHOAAT
BRI 110% : 3 (ii) i & () BTt B S AN E - B
BERTEERRRLASRNAATE -

BREEREAERNDOBARATSGE FiE
F o WRTR-_ETREAEFTMAER 8
BRHBSBRTEZNEEH10F - BRIZREH
% URREMARERE  BE_TTAF
B M ERER R BB ATITE -
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42. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Subsidiary (Continued)

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued
pursuant to the 2005 Scheme is 1,500. If any option
granted under the 2005 Scheme shall expire or terminate
for any reason without having been exercised in full or
shall cease for any reason to be exercisable in whole or
in part, or if TSG shall reacquire any option, the
unpurchased shares subject to such options shall again
be available for grants of options under the 2005 Scheme.
The maximum aggregate number of shares of TSG that
may be granted in the form of share options in any one
fiscal year to an eligible participant shall be 1,000 shares.

The share options granted under the 2005 Scheme are as
follows:

Outstanding BARTTIE

As at 31 March 2012 and 2011, there was no
unrecognised compensation cost related to share options
granted under 2005 Scheme and all outstanding share
options are exercisable. The outstanding share options
as at 31 March 2012 are exercisable from the date of
vesting to 31 December 2015.

No share option was granted for both years.
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had also entered the following
significant related party transactions with related parties
during the year.

140

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The key management personnel of the Group is the
directors and details of the directors’ emoluments
are disclosed in note 14. Details of the share options
of the Company granted to the directors are
disclosed in note 42.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group
purchased certain photovoltaic products of
approximately HK$8,280,000 (2011: HK$nil) from )T
BAERBMEEERQRACII&HER") which is
defined as connected party of the Company under
the Listing Rules as Mr. Yeung Ngo, the chairman
and an executive director of the Company, is
indirectly interested in the entire equity interest in )T
#x fE 12 . For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 28 June 2012.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, operating
lease payments of HK$1,678,000 in respect of
leases of office premises were charged by
companies in which a director of a subsidiary of the
Group had a beneficial interest whereas no such
payment was made for the year ended 31 March
2012.

On 16 February 2011, the Group entered into a
supplemental sales agreement with the sole
customer of the Group and Mr. Yeung, who was
appointed as an executive director of the Company
on 28 March 2011 and was a substantial
shareholder as at 31 March 2011 and 2012, for the
remaining contract work to be transferred from that
sole customer to Mr. Yeung. The sole customer was
substantially owned by Mr. Yeung. As at 31 March
2012, the amount of contract work due from Mr.
Yeung was HK$110,017,000 (2011:
HK$218,305,000).

43. BEATIXRS

B e M BRREMBEMEEE

A%

MAFEIE EBEEA LA TEREEA
X5 -

(@)

(c)

(d)

AEENEIREEAEBRES EEM
SHIBERME 1455 - BALRAIR
TEEBBIENFIBEINMRE 4245 -

HEZT——F=A=+—HIEFE "
AEERIEFEREREERR AR (T
#RER |) B A 48,280,000/ L( =&
——F :THETNETHRER AR
RABEFBRATESMALERNTE
EREBRAEETHERE RS K
LEREIRA ETRAIAAEOREEAL
HBB2MARRBHAE T ——F X
A-+N\BHQRLE -

BE_T——F=ZA=+—HItFE"
AEE-ZRHBRARN —BEEHRE
HESN AR B A ERE WL L
TH£1,678,0008 7T ' MEZE T ——4F
A=t RAEFETEMEZEEA
ﬁo

RZZTE——F A+ AEEHEK
SENE-—RERMEE(RZT—F
A+ N\BEZRAARRRRNITES
WHR=—_E-——FR_FT—Z_F=AH
=T —BAXERF)N—MHEFTHEE
WiE o RIBEZHE SR THHTEIESR
ZE—RFPEETMLE ZE—RP
FTERMEERE BHE_ZT——F=
A=1+—8 ' BRMPEELTEIIERE
/110,017,000 mw( = & — — F:
218,305,000/ 7T) °
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44. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Loan receivable

Current assets
Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Loan to a subsidiary
Cash and bank balances

Total assets

Non-current liabilities
Convertible notes
Deferred tax liabilities

Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued charges
Amounts due to subsidiaries

Total liabilities
Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity
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44. ERXRMBARRKROER

2012 2011
—E——fF —E——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
677,226 201,110
— 5,000
677,226 206,110
10 11,074
57,745 293,700
9,418 4,062
8,809 90,133
75,982 398,969
753,208 605,079
23,577 —
2,832 —
26,409 —
3,221 1,818
7,006 7,426
10,227 9,244
36,636 9,244
65,755 389,725
742,981 595,835
716,572 595,835
120,873 78,806
595,699 517,029
716,572 595,835
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INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

The HKICPA has issued the new HKFRSs which are
effective for the Company’s financial year beginning
on 1 April 2011. The application of the new HKFRSs
had no material effect on how the results and
financial position for the current or prior accounting
periods have been prepared and presented.

The Company has undertaken to provide necessary
financial resources to support the future operations
of the subsidiaries. The directors are of the opinion
that the subsidiaries are financially resourceful in
settling obligations.

The carrying amount of the amounts due from
subsidiaries is reduced to their recoverable
amounts which are determined by reference to the
estimation of future cash flows expected to be
generated from the respective subsidiaries.

Loss of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2012 amounted to approximately HK$374,145,000
(2011: HK$70,245,000).

44. RRRMBARRROER (40)

(a)

(b)

ERBIMAGERMREARA -F
——FMA-BRBNTERFERER
IR EM B REER - BAHMTE
BB REENSASHHRIAES
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TR EEATE -
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REMBAREE -EFTRA WEAR
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JE s B /B8 X Bl SRR BR E (B A EE A]
WEEE ERAKREESR2ERS
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EE -

HE_ZT——E=A=+—RHIEE"
KRN B EEL A374,145,0008 L (= Z
——% : 70,245,000/ 7T) °
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COMPANY

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

Country/place of
incorporation

aEf AR 3
EVS 1]

Issued share capital/
registered capital
BRIRE/

A Ex

Percentage of
issued capital held

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

45. A TFMEQRNFE

Principal activity
and country/

place of operations
TREBR
CECESRL

Eaglefly Technology Limited

China Solar Energy Group
Limited

HERG L EERER
BRRF

Add Result Holdings Limited

China Solar Energy
Development Limited

RERG K ERRER
BRAR

REXCAPITAL International
Holdings Limited
ERN B RERERAR

China Solar Energy (Macau)
Limited

Terra Solar Global, Inc.

EL N YNGE YN

Terra Solar North America,
Inc.
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British Virgin Islands

RERIEE

Hong Kong

British Virgin Islands
RERLEE

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

oH

%
Macau

AP

us

EEi

us

M

1 ordinary share of US$1
1REBRER1ET

1 ordinary share of HK$1

1REBRER1ET

1 ordinary share of US$1
1REBRER1ET
1 ordinary share of HK$1

REBRER1ET

1 ordinary share of HK$1
1REBERER1ET

25,000 ordinary shares of
Macau Pataca 1 each

25,000 B & &K
SR1RMT

10,000 ordinary shares
of US$0.01 each

10,000 R & 3K
BR00IET

200 ordinary shares,
no par value

200 R EE(E LB

by the Company
APRBHERT
REB AL

2012 2011
e
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
68% 68%
68% 68%

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
RERUSREZR

Development and
manufacturing of solar
modules and panels

ARG RIEERE)
HEREE

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
RERUFREZR

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
RERUFREZR

Investment holding
in the PRC
R BEYEEREZR

Inactive
ErY
Investment holding in the

United States
REBREREZR

Licensing of patent rights
in the United States
REBKEHEEMETA
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45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 45. RATKMBEA RS (&)
COMPANY (Continued)

Percentage of Principal activity
Country/place of Issued share capital/ issued capital held and country/
incorporation registered capital by the Company place of operations
R AL BRITRE/ RARREERT FEERR
CEVS:E HEfER e R id EXERHE
2012 2011
—E——f
AEMEENXERRERAR4H4 PRC 100,000 ordinary shares — 100%  Inactive
of US$1 each
HE 100,000 AR E Ak JpEeE
FRI1ET
Novel Power Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
in Hong Kong
RBRAHE 1TREBRBR1ET REBUSRERK
Stream Fund High-Tech Samoa 10,000,000 ordinary 100% —  Investment holding
Group Corp. Ltd. shares of US$1 in the PRC
REaRRERERAF BED 10,000,000 F& & AR &A% R B ERERR
e
Solar Market Limited British Virgin Islands 100 ordinary shares 100% —  Investment holding
of US$1 in Hong Kong
RBRAHE 100 R EBRER1ET REBUSRERK
Sunny Best Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 100% —  Investment holding
in the PRC
ERRRAA BB 1RERRER 1T R B ERERRK
Stream New Energy British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% —  Investment holding
Agricultural Limited in Hong Kong
RBRAHE 1TREBRBR1ET REBUERERK
IEHRSEEREERAR PRC Registered capital 70% —  Cultivation of horticultural
HKD10,000,000 crops, vegetables, fruits,

trees, livestock
husbandry, aquatic
farming

HE & 410,000,000 7T BEEZEY - #iX
KR BK-
AENE  BHEKE
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45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Country/place of
incorporation
A
CEVS A

Issued share capital/
registered capital
ERITRE/
&

Percentage of
issued capital held
by the Company

ARRRBERT
i eNzpald
2012

2011
—T——F

45. RRFMME QAN @)

Principal activity
and country/

place of operations
TEXBR
EXER/ 0

BMERGEERRARAR

AERGEAEERERAR

RREBEBLLRRE
BRRT]

ZREERHERERAR

PERELERRERERAA

PRC

I

PRC

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

Hong Kong
BE

Registered capital
USD99,980,000

& 7599,980,000 % 7T

Registered capital
USD49,460,000

FEE A% 49,460,000 % 7T

Registered capital

RMB10,000,000

EAEEIN:
10,000,007

Registered capital
HKD30,000,000

& 28 30,000,00058 7T

1 ordinary share of HK$1
TREERERAET

# The subsidiary was dissolved during the year ended 31 March

2012.

46. DIVIDEND

46.

The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 March

2012 (2011: HK$nil).
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100% =

100% =

100% =

100% =

Production and sales of
amorphous silicon thin
film solar photovoltaic
modules and related
accessories

EERHEEREER
INCEDRIE L
yiElE

Business of photovoltaic
agricultural greenhouse
and photovoltaic
power generation

KIRBEAMK
KRBEEEH

Investment and
construction of the
power plant

REREREEM

Construction and operation
of power plants for
solar power

BEREEAGREER

Inactive

FHEE

# ZHBARCREBE_E——4$=A=1t—HIFE

g2

ARAAEZVTEBREBE_FT——F=A
=t -HALFEORE(ZT—%F : T8T) -
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47.

48.

49.

146

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2012, the Group capital commitment in
respect of the purchase of property, plant and equipment,
construction-in-progress and capital not yet injected into
certain PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately
HK$1,230,000, HK$75,876,000 and HK$412,845,000
respectively whereas as at 31 March 2011, the Group
had no material capital commitments.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into the following non-cash
transactions which are not reflected in the consolidated
statement of cash flows:

The Group acquired 100% of issued share capital of
Stream Fund High-Tech, for an aggregate consideration
of approximately HK$364,442,000 by issue of
consideration shares and convertible notes as described
in note 38(a).

The Group acquired 100% of issued share capital of
Solar Market, for an aggregate consideration of
HK$154,506,000 by issue of consideration shares as
described in note 38(b).

As of 31 March 2012, approximately HK$59,284,000
(2011: HK$nil) of prepayment of inventories was paid by
Mr. Yeung Ngo on behalf of the Group.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme
(the “Scheme”) for all qualifying employees of the Group
in Hong Kong. The Group contributes 5% of relevant
payroll costs to the Scheme, which contribution is
matched by the employee. The maximum amount of
contribution is limited to HK$1,000 per employee. The
assets of the Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under the control of the trustees.

There are retirement plans established in the US for all
domestic employees who meet certain eligibility
requirements as to age and length of services.

47.

48.

49,

BRAE

RZFE—=—F=A=+—H AEEGRKED
¥ BEMRE EEIR URKREETH
B M B A RlE A Z B AR S BRI A 1,230,000 %
JT * 75,876,000 JT & 412,845,000/ 7T & A&
E#E - MRZTE——F=A=+—8  &~&H
BT ERE A o

FEFRERS
AERBEFRILATIFRER U EREAR
EREBRT R

AN B RE 38(a) AT - AEBE A ETRERD
RA R EEN A RAKE RG22 8%
TTHEA - BRIBL A 364,442,000 7T ©

AN B EE38(b) Pl - ANEE B AT RERD
#9757 = Uk B Solar Market 2 2B 2 B 1THR 7R - 42
RIB4) 5 154,506,000 7 T °

R-F——F=A=+—8  DBEERSE
B3 {177 S T 3B 4959,284,000 8 70 (=
——£F BT

RRERGTE
AEERARENEENEBEERERR
swFEATRER & ([ZATE)) - AEERES
IR B RAH R B 5% MZt 8K - B4
EEZHRERR1,000BTT - ZtEEES
URAKENEE - IHXEAZFNESR
Ao

ARERXEAEHTAE TFEREREFH
BRI H B B SRR INETE o
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49.

50.

51.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
(Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified
contributions.

The total expense of approximately HK$526,000 (2011:
HK$306,000) recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income represents contributions payable
to these plans by the Group at the rates specified in the
rules of the plans.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group does not have material events after the end of
the reporting period.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29
June 2012.
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49.

50.

51.

RIRERETE ()

AEEHENERRNERS AT BRFEE
MBERERRAEFGEINKE - HEBARA
23 & BN YR TE L B AR R AR A E B R4
RENAFEESR - AKBERKEN TR HE
—EEREHEEMRNK -

REEE2EABRAXRTERIANAZBLEY
526,000 7t (= F — — 4 : 306,000/8 L) &
ANEEEZRAERAE TN AIRZETEX
RIEFR -

WmEHBER
REBR RS AR A ERER -

RETRESMBRE

EEEER T —_FRA-TNLAHERE
RTIBRRS M E]RE
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Financial Summary
BHHRE

RESULTS
Revenue

Loss before taxation
Tax credit/(expense)

Loss for the year

Loss attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Property, plant and
equipment

Prepaid lease payments

Construction-in-progress

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Net current assets

Interests in associates

Amount due from the
majority shareholder of
an associate

ES
WA

BRI AT &R
BgHEe, (H)

FREE

THALEIGER :

ZAYNSI S
FEIERAC R AR

BEERAME
SUE VeI G

TERT A ERR
ERIR
BLEE
&
mENEEFRE
73_AHHP ’&E.A N ﬂZ’f’ém
FEU— & B N A
KRB FRIE

Available-for-sale investments 7] it H & 1% &

Long-term prepayment
Other receivables
Convertible notes
Deferred tax liabilities
Government grant

Net assets

Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to equity
owners of the Company
Share option reserve of
a subsidiary
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

148

KA TR
H A g YRR
AR
EREFIARE
RS BE

BEFE

A
A

AR BBREE LS

—MHE A B
BRI
ESE g

Mg

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=+—HLFE

2011
Pt
HK$'000
FE

2010

—ET-TF

HK$'000
THTT

2009
—ETNF
HK$'000
FHT

2008
—EENF
HK$'000
FAT

315,686 174,418 462,001 18,475 97,668
(269,836) (198,820)  (96,031)  (47,624) (215,323)
475 - (44) 1,130 (996)
(269,361) (198,820)  (96,075)  (46,494) (216,319)
(247,443)  (197,104)  (92,182)  (44,383) (215,125)
(21,918) (1,716) (3,893) (2,111) (1,194)
(269,361)  (198,820)  (96,075)  (46,494)  (216,319)
106,494 224 330 533 752
52,258 — — — —
83,417 — — — —
4,485 67,943 82,001 96,059 110,117
329,435 36,592 36,592 36,592 17,213
260,931 344,624 304,718 117,078 143,145
2,596 3,850 — — 6,738

— — — 5,911 16,517

— 15,038 11,625 — —

8,108 — — — —

— - — — 10,062
(23,577) - — — —
(8,312) — — — —
(115,913) — — — —
699,922 468271 435266 256,173 304,544
120,873 78,806 71,580 43,720 43,720
601,079 389,577 362,082 206,956 251,339
721,952 468,383 433,662 250,676 295,059
977 977 977 977 977
(23,007) (1,089) 627 4,520 8,508
699,922 468271 435266 256,173 304,544
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